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The publication of four reports containing advice to 
government:

 � Sentencing for offences motivated by hatred or 
prejudice.

 � The appropriate maximum penalties for sexual 
penetration with a child under 16.

 � The interrelationship between sentencing, parole 
cancellation and confiscation orders.

 � A report on the pilot sentence indication scheme.

Each of these reports has been acted upon by the 
government.

Other highlights include:

 � The adoption by the government of 
recommendations from two earlier reports 
by the Council on suspended sentences and 
intermediate sentencing orders (published in April 
2008) and driving while disqualified or suspended 
(published in April 2009).

 � The publication of a monitoring report on the use 
of suspended sentences, a detailed statistical 
profile of the offence of armed robbery and 
Sentencing Snapshots for 14 offences in the 
higher courts.

 � A major expansion of the Council’s community 
education work, conducting 51 ‘You be the 
Judge’ sessions with over 2000 participants 
and publishing two new teachers’ kits for use in 
secondary schools.

Highlights 
of the Year
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Responses to Recommendations
The following outlines each of the Council’s reports containing major 
recommendations and the outcomes of those recommendations.

Maximum Penalties for Repeat 
Drink Driving Report
(September 2005)

Major Recommendations

Changes to six repeat drink driving 
offences under section 49(1) of the Road 
Safety Act 1986.

Government Response

Implemented in the Road Legislation 
(Projects and Road Safety) Act 2006.

Suspended Sentences 
Final Report—Part 1
(May 2006)

Major Recommendations

Phasing out of the suspended sentence 
option to be replaced with conditional 
sentencing orders.

Modifications to the suspended sentence 
order in the interim, including guidelines 
for when suspension is inappropriate, 
restricting access for serious 
offences and reinforcing strict breach 
requirements.

Government Response

Partial acceptance of recommendations.

Amendments to modify the suspended 
sentence order were implemented in 
the Sentencing (Suspended Sentences) 
Act 2006.
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Review of Maximum Penalties 
for Preparatory Offences 
Report
(December 2006)

Major Recommendations

No change to the current maximum 
penalties for preparatory offences.

Government Response

Accepted.

High Risk Offenders: 
Post Sentence Supervision 
and Detention Final Report
(May 2007)

Major Recommendations

A majority (not unanimous) view that 
continued detention is not warranted.

The use of other strategies to reduce the 
risk of reoffending as a higher priority 
than continuing detention.

If the government introduces a continuing 
detention scheme, it should incorporate 
safeguards, including a risk management 
monitor, high risk offenders board, 
shorter orders, DPP driven applications, 
appeals to the Court of Appeal and 
independent evaluation after five years.

Government Response

Recommendations partially implemented 
in the Serious Sex Offenders (Detention 
and Supervision) Act 2009.

Sentence Indication and 
Specified Sentence Discounts 
Final Report
(September 2007)

Major Recommendations

Courts to state the effect of the guilty 
plea on the sentence.

Statutory support for sentence indication 
in summary cases.

A pilot sentence indication project in the 
County Court.

Statutory support for sentence indication 
in the County Court.

Government Response

Implemented.

Maximum Penalty for 
Negligently Causing Serious 
Injury Report
(October 2007)

Major Recommendations

Maximum penalty should be increased 
from five years to 10 years.

Split offence of dangerous driving 
causing death or serious injury into two 
separate offences with different maximum 
penalties.

Government Response

Implemented in the Crimes Amendment 
(Child Homicide) Act 2008.
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Suspended Sentences and 
Intermediate Sentencing 
Orders: Suspended Sentences 
Final Report—Part 2
(April 2008)

Major Recommendations

Deferring the removal of the power to 
suspend sentences until such time as 
proposed reforms to other intermediate 
sentencing orders have been made and 
fully tested.

Home detention and intensive correction 
orders (ICOs) recast as sentences in their 
own right.

Intensive correction orders and 
community-based orders (CBOs) remain 
as separate sentencing options.

Introduce a new community-based order 
for young adult offenders (CBO (YAO)).

The power to defer sentencing extended 
to the County Court, and the current age 
restrictions removed.

Government Response

The government has not adopted the 
major recommendation on suspended 
sentences. It has announced that it will 
remove suspended sentences for serious 
offences from mid 2011.

However, the government has announced 
that it will recast ICOs in line with the 
Council’s recommendations.

The home detention recommendations 
have been partially implemented in the 
Justice Legislation Amendment Act 2010.

The government has also announced that 
it will give further consideration to the 
remaining recommendations.

Breaching Intervention Orders 
Report
(June 2008)

Major Recommendations

The same maximum penalty for each of 
the three offences (breach of a family 
violence intervention order; breach of a 
stalking intervention order; and breach 
of a police-issued family violence safety 
notice).

No separate offence with a higher 
maximum penalty for a second or 
subsequent offence of breach.

No separate aggravated offence with a 
higher maximum penalty.

Government Response

Implemented in the Family Violence 
Protection Act 2008.

Driving While Disqualified 
or Suspended Report
(April 2009)

Major Recommendations

Repeal of mandatory minimum penalty for 
repeat offence.

Increased deterrence by mechanisms to 
increase detection of the offence.

Expansion of availability of impoundment, 
immobilisation and forfeiture of vehicles.

Earlier intervention for drink drivers.

Government Response

The government has announced that it will 
repeal the mandatory minimum penalty 
and will adopt the recommendations 
relating to the impoundment and 
forfeiture of vehicles.

Victoria Police have acted to increase the 
detection of this offence.
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Sentencing for Offences 
Motivated by Hatred 
or Prejudice
(July 2009)

Major Recommendations

Recommendation on the form of a new 
statutory aggravating factor.

Government Response

Implemented in the Sentencing 
Amendment Act 2009.

Maximum Penalties for Sexual 
Penetration with a Child under 
16 Report
(September 2009)

Major Recommendations

No change to the existing maximum 
penalties.

Increase to the ‘no defence’ age, from 
under 10 to under 12 years.

Government Response

Implemented in the Crimes Legislation 
Amendment Act 2009.

Sentencing, Parole 
Cancellation and 
Confiscation Orders Report
(December 2009)

Major Recommendations

No change to the current approach.

Government Response

Accepted.

Sentence Indication: 
A Report on the Pilot Scheme
(February 2010)

Major Recommendations

The scheme be continued indefinitely.

Government Response

Implemented in the Justice Legislation 
Amendment Act 2010.
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6 Legislation and implementation are not 
identical processes. Good law reform 
requires that changes be monitored 
and evaluated against criteria such as 
effectiveness and efficiency. In the year 
under review the Council monitored 
and reported upon two of its previous 
references: sentence indication and 
suspended sentences. Enough time had 
passed to determine whether the changes 
to the law had been effective in achieving 
their purposes.

As reported in the body of this Annual 
Report in relation to sentence indication, 
the Council found that while the changes 
to criminal procedures had had a minimal 
impact on case flows, there was sufficient 
evidence to believe that the scheme 
was worth persevering with. Sentence 
indication is now a permanent feature of 
the Victorian criminal justice process.

In relation to reform of the law governing 
suspended sentences, an issue that has 
been with the Council since its inception, 
the Council monitored the effect of 

amendments made to the law in 2006 
that restricted their use. In this case the 
Council’s review found that the legislative 
reforms had not produced their intended 
results. As a consequence, in May 2010 
the government announced major reforms 
to the law and committed to implement 
many of the reforms recommended in 
the Council’s Final Report on suspended 
sentences published in April 2008. If and 
when these are enacted, it will be the 
Council’s task to monitor these changes 
and report publicly on them as part of 
the normal and ongoing cycle of reform. 
Public, transparent and critical self-
reflection are essential components of 
the public policy process.

The ability to monitor, research and report 
on the sentencing process in Victoria 
is dependant upon valid and reliable 
sentencing data, and in this respect 
there is much work still to be done. The 
government’s project to significantly 
enhance courts and criminal justice data 
is still a work in progress, but when it is 
completed it will provide the Council with 

Chair’s Foreword
Law reform is an ongoing process and success, however defined, 
is rarely permanent. Circumstances change, resources are often 
limited and attitudes and practices tend to respond slowly to 
legislative imperatives.

Many of the Council’s recommendations have been accepted 
by the government. A summary of these recommendations 
and their legislative outcomes is provided in the Response to 
Recommendations section; it can be seen that the ‘success rate’, 
at least as measured by the government’s acceptance of the 
recommendations and acting upon them, has been very high for a 
body such as ours. However, sometimes after review, no change 
is necessary, as was the case with our inquiry into the relationship 
between sentencing, parole and confiscation laws.
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a major resource to study such matters 
as sentencing patterns and recidivism 
rates, and it will enable the Council 
to provide courts with more and more 
relevant information upon which they can 
base their sentencing decisions. Just as 
importantly, it will provide the public with 
more and better information upon which 
they can properly judge the performance 
of the criminal justice system.

The six years since the Council has been 
established have not only allowed it to 
see through the first cycle of reform but 
also to begin to gauge the influence of 
its work. As detailed in the body of this 
report, the Council’s work has increasingly 
been cited by the courts, by academics 
and by practitioners and is being used 
by law reform bodies, by students and by 
the public in general, especially through 
its web pages. It is gratifying to know that 
the Council’s growing body of publications 
is having an impact in Victoria and 
beyond.

The Council’s extensive work over the 
past year is detailed in the CEO’s report 
and it is appropriate to acknowledge 
the work of Stephen Farrow and the 
Secretariat who undertake the work on 
behalf of the Council. Their professional 
capacity, tireless efforts and enthusiastic 
commitment to the work of the Council 
are some of the major reasons that the 
Council has been so successful to date.

Another of the Council’s great strengths 
is the diversity of its members. They 
bring a wealth of experience to the 
Council’s deliberations and they have 
each contributed in many ways: attending 
meetings, facilitating roundtables with 
stakeholders and providing comments 
on draft documents. My task as Chair 
is made very much easier due to their 
significant contributions.

During the past financial year, the 
Council held many meetings, roundtables 
and forums with a wide range of 
stakeholders and received a large number 
of submissions. The Council greatly 
values the input provided by people who 
contribute their time and energy in taking 
part in our consultation processes.

����������	�
�����
����
���
�

Professor 
Arie Freiberg
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8 The government has adopted the 
recommendations from each of these 
reports. Recently the government has 
also announced its intention to adopt 
many of the recommendations contained 
in two earlier reports on suspended 
sentences (published by the Council in 
April 2008) and driving while disqualified 
or suspended (published in April 2009).

Aside from responding to requests for 
advice from the Attorney-General, the 
Council has a broader role of publishing 
research and statistics on sentencing. In 
fulfilling this role over the past year, the 
Council published Sentencing Snapshots 
for 14 offences in the higher courts. In 
January this year the Council published a 
statistical profile of armed robbery, which 
is the most common offence heard in 
Victoria’s higher courts. The statistical 
profile contains much richer data and 
greater background analysis than can be 
provided in the Council’s Snapshots.

In May this year, the Council published a 
report monitoring the use of suspended 
sentences. This report built on earlier 
work done by the Council (including a 
statistical profile published in 2007), 
and focused on the impact of legislative 
changes made in 2006.

The Council’s research and statistical 
publications are disseminated widely and 
are frequently cited in court judgments 
and academic research.

During the year, the Council has invested 
significant time and effort into improving 
the statistical infrastructure of sentencing 
in Victoria. This has involved identifying 
and creating new sources of data, 
obtaining extracts of data and integrating 
them with the Council’s existing 
databases. This work will enable the 
Council to undertake more complex and 
sophisticated analyses in future years.

CEO’s Report
It is with great pleasure that I present the Sentencing Advisory 
Council’s report of operations for 2009–10 under section 45(1)(b) 
of the Financial Management Act 1994 (Vic).

An important part of the Council’s work is to advise the Attorney-
General on sentencing matters. During the past year, the Council 
published advice to the Attorney-General on four matters:

 � sentencing for offences motivated by hatred or prejudice;

 � the appropriate maximum penalties for sexual penetration with 
a child under 16;

 � the interrelationship between sentencing, parole cancellation 
and confiscation orders; and

 � a report on the pilot sentence indication scheme.
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Another vital area of the Council’s work is 
community education about sentencing. 
The value of this work was highlighted 
in the evaluation of the Council in 2008, 
which recommended an expansion of 
this role. This year the Council has 
conducted 49 ‘You be the Judge’ 
sessions with over 2,000 participants. 
We have also expanded our secondary 
education material, publishing two new 
teachers’ kits.

The many achievements listed in this 
report are a testament to the hard work 
and skills of the staff of the Secretariat 
in conducting research, analysing data, 
consulting with stakeholders, preparing 
papers and providing assistance to 
Council members. It is a pleasure to lead 
such an enthusiastic and talented team, 
and I thank each member of staff who 
contributed over the past year.

The Council benefits from the cooperation 
of many parts of the Department of 
Justice. In particular, I would like to 
thank John Griffin, Executive Director 
Courts, for his support and advice. The 
Courts Statistical Services Unit, the 
Courtlink unit of the Magistrates’ Court 
and Corrections Victoria have continued 
to assist us with access to data for our 
analyses and publications.

���������������
��
���������
���������

Stephen Farrow
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Our Functions
The Sentencing Advisory Council is an 
independent statutory body that was 
established in 2004 under amendments 
to the Sentencing Act 1991. The 
Council was formed to implement a 
key recommendation arising out of 
Professor Arie Freiberg’s 2002 Pathways 
to Justice report. This report recognised 
the need for a body that would allow 
properly informed public opinion to be 
taken into account in the sentencing 
process, and that would also facilitate the 
dissemination of up-to-date and accurate 
sentencing data to assist judges in their 
role, promote consistency in sentencing 
outcomes and inform the community 
more generally on sentencing issues.

Under section 108C of the Sentencing Act 
1991, the functions of the Council are:

a) to state in writing to the Court of Appeal 
its views in relation to the giving, or 
review, of a guideline judgment;

b) to provide statistical information on 
sentencing, including information 
on current sentencing practices, to 
members of the judiciary and other 
interested persons;

c) to conduct research, and disseminate 
information to members of the 
judiciary and other interested persons, 
on sentencing matters;

d) to gauge public opinion on sentencing 
matters;

e) to consult, on sentencing matters, 
with government departments and 
other interested persons and bodies 
as well as the general public; and

f) to advise the Attorney-General on 
sentencing matters.

In his second reading speech introducing 
the provisions establishing the Council, 
the Attorney-General stated that the 
Council would ‘allow properly ascertained 
and informed public opinion to be taken 
into account in the criminal justice system 
on a permanent and formal basis’.

The Attorney-General indicated that this 
would be achieved through the broad 
membership of the Council, because 
the Council comprises people with 
broad community experience in issues 
affecting courts and members of victim 
of crime support or advocacy groups as 
well as experienced legal practitioners. 
The Attorney-General envisaged that this 
would facilitate broad community input 
into the activities of the Council and 
would ensure that the justice system is 
informed by the views and experience of 
the community.

Figure 1 identifies the context of the 
Council’s role and its statutory functions 
(indicated in the figure by the letters that 
refer to the statutory functions listed 
above) and the benefits that flow from the 
Council’s work.

Functions and Objectives
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FIGURE 1: 
THE CONTEXT FOR THE 
COUNCIL’S ROLE

SAC’s Role BENEFITSProblems

Lack of accurate
and credible data
on sentencing

Perception that
sentences are
inconsistent or
otherwise deficient

Perception that
sentencing laws
are deficient

Public perception
that courts and
government are
out of touch
with community
attitudes in relation
to sentencing

Perception by
members of the
community that
they do not
have a voice
in sentencing
issues

1.
Increase the
availability of
accurate and
credible
sentencing data
and analysis
[(b)]

2.
Increase the
amount of
independent, high-
quality sentencing
research and
policy advice
[(a), (c), (f)]

3.
Provide better
information to
members of the
community
about sentencing
[(b), (c)]

4. 
Provide members
of the community
with a greater
opportunity to
provide input into
sentencing policy
[(d), (e)]

Sentences are
more consistent

Sentencing
reforms are
more effective

Sentencing
processes are
understandable
to the public

There is improved
confidence
in sentencing
decisions

There is greater
acceptance of
sentencing reforms
by the community

Victorians from a
wide range of
backgrounds
will have the
opportunity to
have a say
on sentencing

Poor level of
public knowledge
about sentencing
practices and
sentencing
policy issues



S
E

N
TE

N
C

IN
G

 A
D

V
IS

O
R

Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T 

2
0

0
9

–2
0

1
0

12

FIGURE 2: 
ROLE OF THE 
SENTENCING 
ADVISORY COUNCIL

Information and advice Information and advice

Information and education Informed opinion

The community

Sentencing Advisory 
Council

���������� ����������

Soon after it was established, the Council 
summarised its role as:

Bridging the gap between the 
community, the courts and government 
by informing, educating and advising 
on sentencing issues.

The work of the Council revolves around 
providing sound evidence upon which to 
base sentencing policies and practice, 
and increasing community confidence in 
those sentencing policies and practices. 
As Figure 1 illustrates, the objectives of 
the Council are:

 � to increase the availability of accurate and 
credible sentencing data and analysis;

 � to increase the amount of independent, 
high-quality sentencing research and 
policy advice;

 � to provide better information to members 
of the community about sentencing; and

 � to provide members of the community 
with a greater opportunity to provide 
input into sentencing policy.

The community that the Council serves 
is diverse and complex; this is reflected 
in the breadth and variety of Council 
publications and activities. Those with 
an interest in the Council’s projects can 
participate in ways such as responding 
to discussion papers, taking part in 
consultation forums or providing advice 
and feedback on specific issues and 
areas of expertise.

The role of the Council can be pictured in 
the way given in Figure 2.

The figure shows the four basic flows of 
information, education and advice both 
to and from the Council. The arrows 
between the community and the Council 
are dotted to emphasise that there is not 
a sharp distinction between the two, as 
section 108F of the Sentencing Act 1991 
(Vic) requires that at least two members 
of the Council have broad experience in 
community issues affecting the courts.

Our Guiding Principles
The Council has agreed on a set of 
guiding principles to underpin the way 
in which it carries out its functions. The 
objective is to ensure that our work is of 
the highest quality and that the Council 
maintains productive and responsive 
relationships with its stakeholders.

The Council is committed to:

 � demonstrating integrity through 
evidence-based information and advice;

 � adopting an inclusive, consultative and 
open approach to our work;

 � maintaining independence in the process 
of building a bridge between government, 
the judiciary and the community;

 � being responsive to the needs of 
stakeholders; and

 � supporting and developing staff.
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For most of 2009–10, there were 
12 Council members who represented a 
range of perspectives and who came from 
a broad spectrum of professional and 
community backgrounds. Under section 
108F of the Sentencing Act 1991, the 
Council must have at least nine and not 
more than twelve members who fall within 
the following profile areas:

 � one senior academic;

 � two people with broad experience in 
community issues affecting the courts;

 � one highly experienced defence lawyer;

 � one highly experienced prosecution 
lawyer;

 � one member of a victim of crime 
support or advocacy group; and

 � the remaining Council members 
must be people with experience in 
the operation of the criminal justice 
system.

In addition to their attendance at Council 
meetings, Council members contribute 
to projects in a variety of ways. Council 
members facilitate community forums, 
lead roundtable discussions with 
stakeholders and make themselves 
available for Secretariat staff to discuss 
the many complex issues that arise 
during the Council’s work.

Professor Arie Freiberg AM (Chair)

Profile—Senior member of an 
academic institution

Professor Arie Freiberg is the Dean of 
Law at Monash University and headed 
a major review of Victorian sentencing 
laws during 2001–02. Professor Freiberg 
is an authority on sentencing issues 
and the criminal justice system who 
has undertaken extensive research on 
sentencing theory, policy and practice.

Council meetings attended: 9/11

Carmel Arthur

Profile—Operation of the criminal 
justice system

Carmel Arthur has great personal insight 
into the operation of the criminal justice 
system, both from her experience as 
a victim of crime and through her long 
association with Victoria Police. She was 
appointed to the Adult Parole Board in 
early 2009.

Council meetings attended: 11/11

Council Members
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David Grace QC

Profile—Highly experienced 
defence lawyer

David Grace has over 30 years’ 
experience as a legal practitioner, having 
appeared in numerous court jurisdictions 
in a number of leading sentencing 
cases. He regularly appears in the High 
Court and the Court of Appeal and was 
the previous Chair of the Criminal Law 
Section of the Law Institute of Victoria. 
He is presently Co-chair of the Criminal 
Law Committee Law Council of Australia.

Council meetings attended: 7/11

Andrea Lott

Profile—Community issues 
affecting courts

Andrea Lott brings over 20 years’ 
experience in the delivery and 
management of services, particularly in 
working with families and individuals who 
are homeless or at risk of homelessness 
and those who have come into contact 
with the criminal justice system. She 
is a member of the Victorian Women’s 
Correctional Services Advisory 
Committee, the Ministerial Community 
Advisory Committee and the Corrections 
Employment Ministerial Advisory 
Committee.

Council meetings attended: 6/11

Thérèse McCarthy

Profile—Community issues 
affecting courts

Thérèse McCarthy has a long history of 
involvement with community organisations 
such as Centre Against Sexual Assault 
(CASA) House and Court Network. She 
has also worked with Australian courts 
to enhance the relationship between the 
courts and the community. Ms McCarthy 
brings to the Council a community 
perspective on a range of criminal justice 
issues including domestic violence and 
sexual assault.

Council meetings attended: 10/11

Professor Jenny Morgan

Profile—Member of a victim of crime 
support or advocacy group

Professor Jenny Morgan is a member 
and previous Co-chair of the Women’s 
Domestic Violence Crisis Service and 
has extensive experience in victims’ 
issues. She is a former Chair of the 
Board of Centre Against Sexual Assault 
(CASA) House, former member of the 
Board of Court Network, and has written 
extensively on issues to do with gender 
and the law.

Council meetings attended: 9/11

Barbara Rozenes

Profile—Member of a victim of crime 
support or advocacy group

Barbara Rozenes is President of Court 
Network, a community organisation 
designed to assist court users. She has 
had close contact with victims of crime 
and others in almost 20 years of service 
as a weekly volunteer networker in the 
Supreme and County Courts. In 2006 
she was elected to the Committee of 
the Victorian Association of Restorative 
Justice and completed a Ratione’s 
Certificate in Mediation to become an 
Associate Member of the Australian 
Institute of Arbitrators and Mediators. 
Ms Rozenes is also an Ambassador for 
Windana Drug and Alcohol Centre.

Council meetings attended: 8/11
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Gavin Silbert SC

Profile—Highly experienced 
prosecution lawyer

Gavin Silbert has over 30 years’ 
experience as a barrister, having 
appeared in all jurisdictions including the 
Court of Appeal and the High Court. He 
was appointed Chief Crown Prosecutor for 
Victoria in March 2008.

Council meetings attended: 10/11

Lisa Ward

Profile—Operation of the criminal 
justice system

Lisa Ward has extensive experience in 
a range of human services including 
Juvenile Justice, Child Protection and 
Adult Corrections. For the last decade, 
she has operated a human services 
consulting business, providing research, 
program evaluation and policy review 
services to government and community 
organisations. Ms Ward is a member of 
the Adult Parole Board and the Victorian 
Women’s Correctional Services Advisory 
Committee.

Council meetings attended: 9/11

David Ware

Profile—Operation of the criminal 
justice system

David Ware is a Barrister and Solicitor of 
the Supreme Court of Victoria. Mr Ware 
has over 20 years’ experience in public 
administration within Victoria, with a 
particular focus on strategy, planning, 
policy and development across a range 
of social policy areas. Mr Ware is the 
Director of Wagering Licence Allocation 
for the Gambling Licences Review.

Council meetings attended: 8/11

Retired Members 2009–10

Rudolph Kirby 
(Retired November 2009)

Profile—Operation of the criminal 
justice system

A qualified lawyer, Rudolph Kirby 
practised in regional Victoria before 
moving to Melbourne in 2007 to manage 
Koori programs and initiatives at the 
Magistrates’ Court of Victoria. He has 
been actively involved in a range of 
Indigenous community associations and 
programs. Mr Kirby is currently the Justice 
Manager of the Loddon Mallee Region for 
the Department of Justice.

Simon Overland APM 
(Retired February 2010)

Profile—Operation of the criminal 
justice system

Simon Overland has extensive experience 
in law enforcement and administration at 
senior levels with the Australian Federal 
Police and Victoria Police as Assistant 
Commissioner (Crime) and Deputy 
Commissioner. In March 2009, he was 
appointed Chief Commissioner of Victoria 
Police.
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65

43
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1. Arie Freiberg AM
2. Carmel Arthur
3. David Grace QC
4. Andrea Lott
5. Thérèse McCarthy
6. Jenny Morgan
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11

109

87

 7. Barbara Rozenes
 8. Gavin Silbert SC
 9. Lisa Ward
10. David Ware
11. Rudolph Kirby
12. Simon Overland APM
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Council Secretariat

Staff
The part-time Council members are 
supported by a Secretariat which 
undertakes the Council’s daily work. While 
the Secretariat’s organisational structure 
remained stable over 2009–10, there 
were several changes in staffing.

Secretariat staff bring skills from a 
range of disciplines such as law, policy 
development, criminology, statistics, 
publishing and community education 
and engagement to assist the Council in 
meeting its objectives.

In 2009–10, Secretariat staff included:

Chief Executive Officer
Stephen Farrow

Legal Policy
Principal Legal Policy Officer: 
Felicity Stewart

Senior Legal Policy Officer: 
Louise Close (to August 2009)

Senior Legal Policy Officer: 
Andrea David (to April 2010)

Senior Legal Policy Officer: Nina Hudson

Senior Legal Policy Officer: 
Hilary Little (from May 2010)

Legal Policy Officer: 
Tal Karp (from June 2010)

Legal Policy Officer: Donald Ritchie 
(from September 2009)

Criminology
Senior Criminologist: Karen Gelb

Statistics and Data
Senior Data Analyst: 
Nick Turner (to June 2010)

Senior Data Analyst: Geoff Fisher

Data Analyst: Dennis Byles 
(from November 2009)

Data Analyst: Barry Woodhouse 
(to June 2009)

Data Analyst: Christine Knowles-Diamond 
(from June 2010)

Community Engagement
Community Engagement Manager: 
Jenni Coady

Community Education Officer: 
Sheryn Anderson (from September 2009)

Publications and Website Officer: 
Catherine Jeffreys

Administration
Office Manager: Prue Boughey

Administrative Assistant: Sarah Lappin

Youth Employment Scheme Trainee: 
Belinda Price (to December 2009)

Youth Employment Scheme Trainee: 
Caitlin Brown (from February 2010)

Casual Librarian: Julie Bransden

Student Interns
The Council’s Student Research Placement 
Program aims to foster greater collaboration 
with universities and to assist the Council 
with its research priorities. Students with 
suitable research skills and a demonstrated 
commitment to public interest are 
selected to undertake short-term 
supervised research projects that typically 
overlap with the Council’s work program 
and, in some cases, students’ current 
academic research. The Council also 
partners with the Victoria Law Foundation’s 
Legal Policy Placement Program.

In 2009–10, the Council hosted one student 
in its Student Research Placement Program.

Melbourne University Department 
of Criminology

Alice Minson
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Organisational Chart

Chief 
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References from 
the Attorney-General
One of the Council’s key statutory functions is to conduct research 
and advise the Attorney-General on sentencing matters. During 
2009–10, the Council worked on several projects at the request of 
the Attorney-General, the Hon. Rob Hulls, MP.

Maximum Penalties for 
Sexual Penetration with a 
Child under 16
In December 2008, the Attorney-General 
asked the Council to advise on the 
adequacy of the maximum penalties 
currently applying to the offence of sexual 
penetration of a child under the age of 16 
(Crimes Act 1958 (Vic) s 45).

Three different maximum penalties 
applied to this offence. These were:

 � 25 years’ imprisonment where the child 
is aged under 10;

 � 15 years’ imprisonment where the child 
is aged between 10 and 16 and under 
the ‘care, supervision or authority’ of 
the offender; and

 � 10 years’ imprisonment in all other 
instances of sexual penetration where 
the child is aged between 10 and 16.

The Review Process

The Council released a Consultation 
Paper on 20 March 2009 and advertised 
for submissions. The Council received 
24 written submissions and conducted 
approximately 30 meetings/telephone 
conversations with stakeholders, including 
victims and families of victims, offenders, 
legal practitioners, psychologists, workers 
from Centres Against Sexual Assault, the 
Victorian Association for the Care and 
Resettlement of Offenders, County Court 
judges, the Child Witness Service and the 
Witness Assistance Service at the Office 
of Public Prosecutions and members of 
Victoria Police.

Adequacy of Maximum Penalties

The stakeholders consulted by the 
Council expressed a wide range of views 
on the adequacy of the current maximum 
penalties. In order to assess these 
competing views, the Council considered 
the adequacy of the existing maximum 
penalties in light of the functions of a 
maximum penalty.
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A key function of a maximum penalty is 
to provide sufficient scope for courts 
to impose an appropriate sentence for 
all forms of the offence. The Council 
conducted a statistical examination of all 
cases sentenced during a two-year period 
and concluded that there was no evidence 
that the current maximum penalties are 
inadequate to accommodate the worst 
examples of this offence.

Another important function of a maximum 
penalty is to indicate the relative 
seriousness of an offence in relation 
to other offences. The Council viewed 
all sexual offending against children 
as intrinsically serious. However, the 
Council considered that the different 
circumstances in which sexual 
penetration of a child under 16 can 
occur represent differing levels of harm 
and culpability, and that these should 
be reflected in correspondingly different 
maximum penalties.

Ultimately, the Council was not persuaded 
that the existing maximum penalties were 
inadequate.

However, most stakeholders consulted by 
the Council considered that the real issue 
was not the inadequacy of the currently 
applicable penalties, but rather:

 � the adequacy of current sentencing 
practices for this offence; and

 � the current ‘no defence’ age for the 
offence.

Adequacy of Sentencing Practices

The Council agreed with the view 
of the majority of stakeholders that 
current sentencing practices for sexual 
penetration with a child under 16 did not 
reflect the seriousness of this offending 
behaviour as stipulated by the high 
maximum penalties already in place.

The average sentence for an individual 
charge of sexual penetration (under 10) in 
the period examined by the Council was 
3.3 years. The longest sentence imposed 
on a single charge was 6.7 years. This 
would suggest that increases in the 

maximum penalty for the other forms of 
this offence would not necessarily lead to 
more appropriate sentences.

The Council was of the view that 
consideration of current sentencing 
practices in an appropriate appeal case 
may be a more appropriate and effective 
way to address the disparity between 
sentencing practices and the maximum 
penalty than raising the maximum penalty 
itself.

In its report the Council also noted that, 
in order to provide further guidance for 
sexual penetration with a child under 16, 
the Court of Appeal could consider 
utilising the guideline provisions in the 
Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic).

No Defence Age

The lower age limit applicable to the 
offence of sexual penetration with a child 
under 16 reflects the premise that young 
children (which at the time of the review 
was limited to children under 10) cannot 
as a matter of fact or law consent to 
sexual intercourse. Mistake of age is not 
a defence to this form of the offence.

In contrast, the non-aggravated form of 
the offence (child aged between 10 and 
16 and not under the care, supervision or 
authority of the offender) recognises that 
adolescents can and do engage in sexual 
activity with each other, or with older 
people, and sets the maximum penalty 
at a lower level in recognition of the fact 
that the culpability of offenders in this 
category may be lower than in the other 
categories of the offence.

Many people consulted considered that 
10 was not the appropriate ‘no defence’ 
age. However, there is no consensus 
among child development theorists as to 
the age at which children sexually develop 
and/or are physically, emotionally and 
intellectually capable of participating in 
a sexual relationship. Other domestic 
and comparable overseas jurisdictions 
do not have a consistent approach to the 
lower age.
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The professional experiences of some 
of the people with whom the Council 
consulted indicated that children under 
12 generally did not become involved 
in consensual sexual relationships with 
other children close to their own age; 
however, as they grew older, it became 
a ‘grey area’. This view was supported 
by the data compiled by the Council. 
Between July 2006 and June 2008, 
there were no instances of sexual 
penetration of a child under 16 where 
the court characterised the offending as 
‘consensual’ where the victim was aged 
under 12. However, the court identified 
consensual cases where the victim was 
12 (8.3 %) and 13 (14.8 %).

Courts were also more likely to impose 
a term of imprisonment on an offender 
when the victim was aged 10–11 than 
when the victim was aged 12–13:

 � Where the victim was aged 10–11, 
93.8% of offenders received terms of 
imprisonment.

 � Where the victim was aged 12–13, 
60.7% of offenders received terms of 
imprisonment.

This would suggest that the courts 
already recognise a difference between 
children aged under and over 12.

The Council considered carefully the 
views raised in consultations undertaken 
and the results of the data analysis 
for this reference. Taking these into 
account, the Council considered that the 
appropriate level at which to set the lower 
age is ‘under 12’, so as to include 10 and 
11 year-old children within the 25 year 
maximum penalty category.

Recommendation

The Council recommended that:

 � the statutory aggravating feature of 
‘sexual penetration with a child under 
10’ should be changed to ‘sexual 
penetration with a child under 12’ 
with the same maximum penalty of 25 
years’ imprisonment;

 � the statutory aggravating feature 
of ‘sexual penetration with a child 
aged between 10 and 16 and under 
the care, supervision or authority of 
the offender’ should be changed to 
‘sexual penetration with a child aged 
between 12 and 16 and under the care, 
supervision or authority of the offender’ 
with the same maximum penalty of 15 
years’ imprisonment; and

 � the statutory aggravating feature of 
‘sexual penetration with a child aged 
between 10 and 16’ should be changed 
to ‘sexual penetration with a child 
aged between 12 and 16’, and with the 
same maximum penalty of 10 years’ 
imprisonment.

The Council’s report, Maximum 
Penalties for Sexual Penetration with 
a Child under 16, was released on 
24 September 2009. In December 
2009, the Attorney-General introduced 
legislation into Parliament to amend the 
Crimes Act 1958 (Vic) consistent with the 
Council’s recommendations. The Crimes 
Legislation Amendment Act 2009 (Vic) was 
passed by Parliament and came into force 
on 17 March 2010.
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Sentence Indication Monitoring
In July 2008, the Attorney-General asked 
the Council to monitor, report and make 
recommendations in relation to the 
operation of a pilot sentence indication 
scheme in the County and Supreme 
Courts. The pilot sentence indication 
scheme in the higher courts arose out 
of previous work done by the Council 
in relation to sentence indication and 
specified sentencing discounts.

Context of the Reference

In August 2005, the Attorney-General 
asked the Council to consider, among 
other matters, the merits of a sentence 
indication scheme in Victoria. In 
September 2007, after extensive research 
and consultation, the Council released 
its final report, Sentence Indication and 
Specified Sentence Discounts. One of the 
Council’s recommendations was that 
a pilot sentence indication scheme be 
established in the County Court.

In November 2007, the government 
introduced legislation to create a 
pilot sentence indication scheme 
broadly consistent with the Council’s 
recommendations. When the Criminal 
Procedure Legislation Amendment Act 
2008 (Vic) was passed in March 2008, 
a sunset clause was included in order 
to allow for consideration of these 
concerns before a final decision was 
made as to the viability of a permanent 
scheme in the higher courts. The sunset 
clause provided that the pilot scheme 
would lapse on 1 July 2010 unless the 
government passed further legislation for 
its continuation.

Scope of the Monitoring Exercise

The Council was asked to report on the 
operation of the scheme by 31 December 
2009. In particular, the Council was to 
monitor and report on the impact of the 
sentence indication scheme on:

 � case flow;

 � sentencing outcomes;

 � the key people involved, namely victims 
and defendants; and

 � the resources and operations of the key 
participating agencies.

The Sentence Indication Process

The pilot sentence indication scheme 
commenced operation in the County 
and Supreme Courts on 1 July 2008. 
The scheme allowed a court to indicate 
whether the court would or would not be 
likely to impose an immediate custodial 
sentence if the defendant pleaded guilty. 
An application for a sentence indication 
could only be made by the defence with 
the consent of the prosecution. The court 
retained a discretion as to whether to give 
a sentence indication. Once an indication 
was given the defendant could either 
plead guilty and be sentenced consistent 
with the indication or proceed to trial.

During the period July 2008 to June 
2009, there were 31 sentence indication 
applications in relation to state criminal 
matters. The prosecution consented to 27 
of the 31 applications, which proceeded 
as sentence indication hearings. Of the 
four cases in which the prosecution did 
not consent, two were sexual offences, 
one was a charge of reckless conduct 
endangering life and the other was an 
affray. According to the Office of Public 
Prosecutions, prosecution consent was 
withheld on the basis that there was 
insufficient material before the court to 
determine whether the defendant would 
be likely to receive an immediate 
custodial sentence if he or she pleaded 
guilty.
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Impact on Case Flow

In 2008–09 there were 553 cases in the 
County Court that were potentially eligible 
for a sentence indication, comprising 
32.8% of all County Court criminal 
cases. The 27 sentence indication cases 
comprised just 5% of this potential pool 
of cases, which suggests there is the 
potential for the scheme to be used in a 
much larger number of cases.

In 23 (85.2%) of the 27 cases where a 
sentence indication was given, a plea of 
guilty was entered by the defendant after 
the indication. This is a positive indicator 
that sentence indication has the potential 
to facilitate the resolution of cases that 
might otherwise have resolved at a later 
stage had it not been for the sentence 
indication.

Overall, the Council concluded that 
sentence indications under the pilot 
scheme had a minimal impact on case 
flow. However, the high correlation 
between sentence indication and 
case resolution confirmed that giving 
defendants information and certainty that 
they will not go to jail does assist in the 
earlier resolution of matters that would 
have ultimately resolved but at a later 
date. Thus, if the scheme were to continue 
and the number of sentence indications 
increase, it has the potential to have a 
more significant impact on case flow.

Impact on Sentencing Outcomes

Concerns that the scheme could have a 
negative impact on sentencing outcomes 
and result in lenient sentencing arose 
in part because of the experience of the 
New South Wales pilot sentence indication 
scheme. Under that scheme, a number 
of cases in which the defendant was 
sentenced after pleading guilty on receipt of 
a sentence indication were appealed by the 
prosecution on the basis that the sentence 
imposed was manifestly inadequate.

There were insufficient cases in the 
Victorian pilot scheme to allow for 
statistical analysis similar to that 
undertaken in New South Wales.

However, none of the cases in which a 
defendant was sentenced after accepting 
a sentence indication in the Victorian 
scheme had been appealed by the Crown. 
This would suggest that the prosecution 
was not of the view that the sentences 
imposed in these cases were manifestly 
inadequate.

Overall, due to the small number of 
cases in the review period, the scheme 
had a limited impact on sentencing 
outcomes in the higher courts. Further, 
the Council did not consider that 
there was any evidence that sentence 
indication had resulted in adverse 
sentencing outcomes in the cases under 
the pilot scheme.

Impact on Victims

In order to examine the impact of the 
scheme on victims involved in the 
sentence indication process, the Council 
met with solicitors at the Office of Public 
Prosecutions and workers at the Witness 
Assistance Service. In particular, the 
Council sought to examine the impact of 
sentence indications under the scheme 
on the rights of victims to be kept 
informed and consulted and to make a 
victim impact statement.

The Council’s consultation indicated 
that there were no discernable issues 
in relation to consultation with victims 
specific to sentence indication cases 
during the review period. Where able 
to be contacted, the victim was kept 
informed and consulted as part of the 
sentence indication process and had 
been given the opportunity to make a 
victim impact statement after the matter 
had resolved.

Impact on Defendants

The Council sought the views of defence 
barristers and solicitors who had been 
involved in sentence indication cases 
about how their clients responded to the 
scheme and whether they were satisfied 
with the process.
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Although the scheme provides an 
incentive for defendants to plead 
guilty at an earlier stage than they may 
have otherwise pleaded, there was no 
suggestion that this was an improper 
incentive or that it had operated 
improperly to infringe a defendant’s 
rights against self-incrimination. On the 
contrary, one defence practitioner, who 
was involved in the scheme, saw the 
process as empowering for defendants, 
providing further support for the positive 
impact that this process can have on 
some defendants’ decision whether to 
plead guilty to an offence.

Should the Pilot Sentence Indication 
Scheme Be Continued?

The Council consulted a wide range of 
judges and legal practitioners who had 
been involved in sentence indication 
hearings. People who were involved in the 
scheme reported minimal impact on case 
flow and workload across the system as 
a whole. In addition, all of the people 
consulted by the Council were of the view 
that it would be premature to abolish the 
scheme without allowing it time to fulfil 
at least some of its potential to assist 
in reducing delay in the courts. While 
sentence indication will never solve the 
problem of delay on its own, it is a useful 
tool when used in conjunction with other 
mechanisms designed to reduce delay.

Recommendation

Based on its analyses and consultations, 
the Council recommended that the 
sentence indication scheme should be 
continued, without any changes to the 
legislative framework in the Criminal 
Procedure Act 2009 (Vic).

The Attorney-General passed 
legislation to implement the Council’s 
recommendation to continue the 
sentence indication scheme on 8 June 
2010.

Sentencing for Offences 
Motivated by Hatred 
or Prejudice
In June 2009 the Attorney-General 
sought advice from the Council as to how 
the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) could be 
amended so that, where an offence is 
motivated by hate or prejudice against a 
particular group (for example, based on 
their race, religion, ethnicity, disability 
or sexual orientation), this motivation 
is taken into account as an aggravating 
circumstance at the time of sentencing. 
The Council was asked to have 
particular regard to the approach adopted 
in the Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act 
1999 (NSW).

The Council considered that the optimal 
way to achieve this was to introduce a 
new statutory aggravating factor into 
the Victorian Act, to make it clear that 
offences that are motivated by hatred 
or prejudice are particularly serious 
and cause great harm to individuals, to 
the targeted groups and to the broader 
community. The Council recommended 
amending section 5(2) of the Sentencing 
Act 1991 (Vic) to provide that in 
sentencing an offender a court must 
have regard to whether the offence was 
motivated (wholly or partially) by hatred 
for, or prejudice against, a group of 
people with common characteristics with 
which the victim was associated or with 
which the offender believed the victim 
was associated.

In providing this advice, the Council 
recommended a number of key 
differences to the New South Wales 
provision.

Motivation

The NSW provision applies where an 
offence was motivated by hatred or 
prejudice. However, the Council was 
aware that there may be several different 
motives for an offender’s actions. There 
may be difficulties in proving beyond 
reasonable doubt that the primary 
motivation for an offence was hatred and 
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prejudice even though there is ample 
evidence to establish that hatred and 
prejudice formed part of the offender’s 
motivation.

Therefore the Council recommended that 
the provision apply whether the offence 
was wholly or partially motivated by 
hatred or prejudice. The Council made 
it clear that the term ‘wholly or partially 
motivated’ was intended to apply to 
situations including:

 � where the primary motivation for the 
offence was hatred or prejudice;

 � where the victim was selected or 
targeted by the offender because of the 
offender’s hatred or prejudice; and

 � where the offender’s conduct during 
the offence indicated that part of the 
motivation for the offence was the 
offender’s hatred or prejudice towards 
the victim because of the victim’s 
identity.

Characteristics

The Council recommended against 
including in the legislation a list 
of specified groups of people to 
whom the legislation should apply. 
However, the Council summarised 
the types of characteristics that had 
been identified in provisions in other 
jurisdictions to aid in the interpretation 
of the law. The characteristics identified 
by the Council were noted in the second 
reading speech in which the Attorney-
General said:

The amendment is particularly 
intended to promote protection 
of groups of people with common 
characteristics such as groups 
characterised by religious affiliation, 
racial or cultural origin, sexual 
orientation, sex, gender identity, age, 
impairment … or homelessness.

The Victim’s Membership of the Group

The New South Wales provision applies 
where the offender believes that the 
victim belongs to the group of people. 

However, the Council took the view that 
there are a number of situations in 
which the victim of an offence may not 
‘belong’ to the group that is hated or the 
subject of prejudice, but the offence can 
still be properly classified as one that is 
motivated by hatred or prejudice.

The Council recommended that the 
provision apply if the victim was 
associated with the group that was 
the subject of the offender’s hatred or 
prejudice, including situations such as 
those in which the victim is:

 � a member of the particular group;

 � not a member of the particular group 
but came to the rescue of someone 
of the particular group and was 
consequently offended against;

 � an advocate for a group; or

 � a family member or acquaintance of a 
member of the group.

The Council also believed that the 
provision should apply regardless of 
whether the offender was correct or 
mistaken in his or her belief about the 
victim’s association with a group (for 
example if the offender made a mistaken 
assumption about the victim’s race or 
sexual orientation). This was consistent 
with the position at common law and with 
the New South Wales provision.

Implementation

The Council’s recommendations 
were implemented by the Sentencing 
Amendment Act 2009 (Vic) which was 
assented to on 1 December 2009. The 
Act inserted section 5(2)(daaa) into the 
Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic), which adds the 
following to the list of factors that a court 
must take into account in sentencing an 
offender:

whether the offence was motivated 
(wholly or partly) by hatred for or 
prejudice against a group of people 
with common characteristics with 
which the victim was associated or 
with which the offender believed the 
victim was associated.
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Sentencing, Parole Cancellation 
and Confiscation Orders
In February 2009 the Attorney-General 
asked the Council for advice on options 
for addressing the consequences and 
implications of a number of specific 
Victorian Court of Appeal decisions. 
These decisions concerned the relevance 
to sentencing of parole and confiscation 
proceedings (R v Piacentino; R v Ahmed 
(2007) 15 VR 501, R v Alashkar; R v Tayar 
(2007) 17 VR 65 and R v McLeod (2007) 
16 VR 682).

The decisions concerned the relevance 
to sentencing, both before and after an 
offender is sentenced, of:

 � a decision by the Adult Parole Board to 
cancel an offender’s parole for further 
offending; and

 � a decision by a court or an automatic 
order for confiscation of an offender’s 
property.

In the relevant decisions, the Court of 
Appeal held that parole cancellation 
and confiscation orders are relevant to 
sentencing, irrespective of their timing 
relative to sentence. In cases where 
such events occur after sentencing, 
they can constitute ‘fresh evidence’ 
that may provide a ground of appeal and 
could possibly result in resentencing by 
the Court of Appeal. These decisions 
represented a departure from the 
previous approach used in sentencing 
offenders in these circumstances. 
The change in approach had potential 
implications for the application of 
sentencing principles as well as practical 
implications for the criminal justice 
system as a whole.

In providing its advice, the Council was 
asked to consider the intersection of the 
common law sentencing principles of 
totality and proportionality with provisions 
of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic).

Through its consultation process, one 
of the primary concerns with the fresh 
evidence approach to subsequent parole 
cancellation and confiscation that the 

Council identified was that it could lead to 
a large number of sentence appeals and 
substantially increase the workload of the 
Court of Appeal.

The Council examined the relevant 
data and found that the fresh evidence 
cases had not significantly contributed 
to the sentence appeal workload in the 
Court of Appeal. In the period from the 
delivery of the relevant decisions to 
31 August 2009, there had only been 
19 appeals to the Court of Appeal that 
raised the issue of post-sentence parole 
cancellation or confiscation. Based 
on the analysis of these data and its 
consultations, the Council concluded that 
the contribution that such cases make 
to the Court of Appeal’s workload is not 
likely to be significant.

In relation to parole, the Council examined 
as a threshold issue, the intersection 
between the principle of totality and 
section 5(2AA) of the Sentencing Act 
1991 (Vic) when an offender is sentenced 
for offences committed on parole. The 
Council recommended that totality should 
continue to apply in the sentencing of 
offenders for offences committed on 
parole, irrespective of the timing of 
parole cancellation relative to sentencing 
(Recommendation 1).

In relation to confiscation, the Council 
examined as a threshold issue, the 
intersection between the principle of 
proportionality and section 5(2A)–(2B) 
of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) when 
an offender is sentenced for offences 
which attract confiscatory sanctions. 
The Council recommended that 
proportionality should continue to apply 
in the sentencing of offenders where 
confiscation occurs that is relevant to 
sentencing as is currently permitted in 
section 5(2A)–(2B) of the Sentencing Act 
1991 (Vic), irrespective of the timing of 
that confiscation relative to sentencing 
(Recommendation 4).

The Council considered a number of 
possible alternative options for dealing 
with post-sentence parole cancellation 
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and confiscation respectively. In 
consultation, stakeholders identified 
a number of significant legal, policy 
and practical implications with these 
alternative approaches in relation to both 
parole cancellation and confiscation.

The Council also analysed data on the 
timing of parole cancellation with respect 
to the imposition of sentence for offences 
committed on parole. This analysis also 
indicated that there are a number of 
practical and policy reasons underlying 
whether and when the Adult Parole Board 
cancels parole, and in the Council’s 
view supported the continued retention 
of flexibility in the Adult Parole Board’s 
discretion to cancel parole.

The Council therefore concluded that 
each of the possible alternative options 
considered had the potential to cause 
more difficulties than the fresh evidence 
approach. This combined with the 
less-than-expected effect of the fresh 
evidence approach on the Court of Appeal 
did not provide a strong case for reform.

Accordingly, in relation to both parole and 
confiscation, the Council recommended 
that the most appropriate approach is for 
‘no change’, that is, for fresh evidence 
of post-sentence parole cancellation 
and confiscation (where relevant to 
sentencing) to continue to constitute 
a potential ground of appeal against 
sentence (Recommendations 3 and 7).

The Council provided its advice and 
recommendations to the Attorney-General 
in November 2009. The Council’s advice 
has been accepted by the government 
and no change has been made to the 
current fresh evidence approach to 
post-sentence parole cancellation and 
confiscation.

Maximum Penalties for Crimes 
Bill Offences
In March 2010, the Attorney-General 
asked the Council to review the 
appropriateness of the maximum 
penalties for about 250 of the most 
serious criminal offences in Victoria. 
This project stems from a comprehensive 
review of the Crimes Act 1958 (Vic), which 
is currently underway, seeking to simplify, 
modernise and rationalise offences.

The Council has been asked to consider 
the appropriateness of the maximum 
penalties for the criminal offences to be 
included in the Crimes Bill, and to ensure 
there is an appropriate hierarchy between 
similar offences.

In making its recommendations, the 
Council has been requested to:

 � articulate the general principles upon 
which a scale of offence penalties 
should be based;

 � consider whether any changes should 
be made to the penalty scale;

 � take into account current sentencing 
practices; and

 � consider community attitudes to 
relative offence seriousness.

The Council has been asked to provide 
this advice by 30 June 2011.
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Other Key Projects

Suspended Sentences 
Monitoring
In 2004, the Council was given its first 
reference from the Attorney-General 
on the use of suspended sentences of 
imprisonment. The Council conducted 
extensive research and consultation 
as part of that reference, which 
revealed that much of the concern 
about suspended sentences related to 
their use for serious crimes of personal 
violence, such as rape, sexual assault 
and intentionally or recklessly causing 
serious injury. Further, suspended 
sentences were not considered to have 
a sufficient punitive element. In addition, 
there was a view that suspended 
sentences could be inappropriate for 
offenders who suffer from underlying 
problems such as drug dependency 
because there is limited scope for a 
suspended sentence to address those 
problems directly.

The Council concluded that suspended 
sentences are fundamentally 
flawed and recommended a 
comprehensive package of reforms to 
intermediate sentencing orders so that 
they would provide more effective and 
more credible alternatives to suspended 
sentences. It suggested that, if these 
reforms were to be adopted, the need for 
suspended sentences would diminish. 
The Council recognised that, even if 
its recommendations were adopted, 
implementing such significant reforms 
to intermediate orders would take time. 
As an interim measure, the Council 
recommended that legislation be 
introduced to limit the use of suspended 
sentences for serious offences to cases 
involving exceptional circumstances.

The Council’s final report and 
recommendations were published in 
two parts. The first part, containing the 
recommendation to limit suspended 
sentences for serious offences, 
was published in May 2006. That 
recommendation was adopted in the 
same year with an amendment to the 
Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) which provides 
that a court may suspend a sentence 
of imprisonment for a serious offence 
(as defined in section 3 of the Act) 
only if the court finds that there are 
exceptional circumstances and that it 
is in the interests of justice to do so. 
The second part of the report, released 
in April 2008, recommended a suite of 
reforms to Victoria’s intermediate orders, 
including intensive correction orders and 
community-based orders.

The Council also undertook to monitor 
the use of suspended sentences, and 
released its first statistical profile on 
suspended sentences in 2007. On 
13 May 2010 the Council released 
a monitoring report on the use of 
suspended sentences in Victoria 
since the initial reforms that restricted 
the use of these sentences for section 3 
serious offences.

The monitoring report builds upon the 
statistical profile, and focuses on:

 � the continued increase in suspended 
sentences in the Magistrates’ Court 
for second and subsequent offences of 
driving while disqualified or suspended; 
and

 � the effect of legislative amendments 
in 2006 restricting the use of wholly 
suspended sentences for certain 
serious offences.
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The Council analysed data and sentencing 
remarks for the period between 
1 November 2006 and 30 June 2009 
to identify any changes in sentencing 
practice for the imposition of suspended 
sentences.

For the offences of armed robbery, 
intentionally causing serious injury 
and sexual penetration of a child aged 
between 10 and 16—the three offences 
for which there were sufficient data 
during the reference period to conduct 
an analysis—the Council found that 
there was no significant difference in 
the imposition of suspended sentences. 
The Council’s analysis suggested that 
legislative attempts to restrict the use of 
suspended sentences, without credible 
alternatives, had not been successful.

Following the release of the monitoring 
report in May 2010, the government 
announced its intention to abolish 
suspended sentences for section 3 
serious offences and to implement 
the reforms to intermediate orders 
recommended by the Council in part 
two of its final report on suspended 
sentences, released in April 2008. As 
legislation incorporating the proposed 
reforms has not yet been introduced, the 
precise detail of the particular reforms is 
not known at this time.

Gender Differences in 
Sentencing Outcomes
In his final report of Pathways to Justice, 
Professor Arie Freiberg noted several 
issues that had been identified with the 
operation of the Sentencing Act 1991 
(Vic) relating to special offender groups 
that posed particular challenges to the 
sentencing system. One of the groups 
identified as requiring further attention 
was female offenders.

The Council has begun a project on 
female offenders that revolves around 
the issue of differences in sentencing 
outcomes for men and women in the 
criminal courts. As sentencing outcomes 
are partially the product of police 
practices, the paper will include an 
examination of gender differences in 
criminal behaviour. And as sentencing 
outcomes from the courts are partially 
reflected by prisoner statistics, 
information on gender differences in 
prison data will also be included.

Gender differences in criminal court 
outcomes for men and women are almost 
axiomatic in contemporary criminology. 
Since the early 1970s most of the 
research literature in this area has shown 
evidence of ‘discrimination’ in sentencing.

The paper aims to contribute to the 
research literature on gender differences 
in sentencing by:

 � presenting an overview of existing 
findings from the literature on 
differential sentencing outcomes for 
men and women;

 � summarising the most prominent 
theories about why such differences 
might exist; and

 � presenting data to examine gender 
differences in sentencing outcomes in 
the Victorian courts.

The Council plans to complete this project 
in the 2010–11 financial year.
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Sentencing Statistics
When the Sentencing Advisory Council was established in 2004, 
one of its key tasks was to provide statistical information on 
current sentencing practices to members of the judiciary and 
other interested people. This continues to be a major role of the 
Council as the regular provision of such data is essential to support 
judicial officers in the complex task of sentencing and to promote 
consistent sentencing practice. In consultation with the courts 
and with the Courts Statistical Services Unit of the Department of 
Justice, the Council has developed a set of accurate databases 
and a range of techniques to extract and analyse such data. These 
data have proved extremely valuable and have been an integral part 
of many of the Council’s projects.

During this year the Council continued to release data on offences 
heard in the Victorian courts, focusing on the Supreme and County 
Courts.

Sentencing Snapshots—
Higher Courts
During 2009–10 the Council continued 
to expand on its higher courts Snapshot 
series, with 14 such reports published, all 
of which provided an update of Snapshots 
previously released. The higher courts 
Sentencing Snapshots released this year 
include:

March 2010

No. 91 Robbery

No. 92 Armed Robbery

No. 93 Causing Serious Injury Intentionally

No. 94 Causing Serious Injury Recklessly

No. 95 Causing Injury

No. 96 Affray

June 2010

No. 97 Burglary

No. 98 Aggravated Burglary

No. 99 Incest

No. 100 Drug Trafficking in a Non-
Commercial Quantity

No. 101 Drug Trafficking in a Commercial 
Quantity

No. 102 Drug Trafficking in a Large 
Commercial Quantity

No. 103 Cultivating Narcotic Plants

No. 104 Cultivating a Commercial 
Quantity of Narcotic Plants

Each Snapshot examined trends by 
reference to the age and gender of the 
sentenced person, sentence types and 
lengths, principal and total effective 
sentences and non-parole periods.

The Council has now published more 
than 70 Snapshots for offences heard 
in the County Court and Supreme Court, 
covering over 80 per cent of all people 
sentenced in those courts.

The Sentencing Snapshots are available 
free for download from the Council’s 
website. In the coming year the Council 
will continue to update previously 
released Snapshots for people sentenced 
in the higher courts.
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Enhanced Higher Courts 
Database
In order to fulfil its statutory function 
of providing statistical information on 
sentencing, the Council produces a 
number of different kinds of statistical 
reports. Since 2005 the Council has 
produced more than 100 Sentencing 
Snapshots, providing basic descriptive 
information on specific offences in the 
higher courts and the Magistrates’ 
Court. The Council has also produced a 
number of statistical profiles on specific 
dispositions, including suspended 
sentences, community-based orders, 
intensive correction orders and criminal 
justice diversion plans. Finally, the 
Council has produced a more detailed 
statistical profile on armed robbery 
offences, using coded sentencing 
remarks to provide a greater level of 
detail than was previously available.

In addition to these purely statistical pieces 
the Council has been able to incorporate 
more detailed statistical analysis based 
on coded sentencing remarks into a 
number of its legal policy reports, allowing 
a more nuanced understanding of the 
nature of certain offences.

In a recent Court of Appeal decision 
(R v MacNeil-Brown (2008) 20 VR 677), 
the majority of the Court of Appeal held 
that prosecutors have a duty to provide 
submissions to a sentencing court as to 
the appropriate sentencing range. This 
change to the legal environment has 
resulted in the Council’s involvement in 
the collection of richer data based on 
coding judicial sentencing remarks.

The resulting Enhanced Higher Courts 
Sentencing Database will enable the 
Council to provide the courts with a far 
more nuanced and accurate picture of 
sentencing practices. It will allow the 
Council to examine the role of key factors 
such as plea type and prior criminal 
history in sentencing practices. The richer 
data will also be valuable to inform the 
Council’s own deliberations as it develops 
recommendations.

The overarching aim of this project is to 
establish and maintain a more detailed 
database on sentencing, for which there 
will be a variety of uses into the future.

Statistical Profiles

Sentencing for Armed Robbery: 
A Statistical Profile

The Council prepared a statistical profile 
on armed robbery to examine in detail 
sentencing practices for this offence. 
The profile examined the relationship 
between victim, offender and offence 
characteristics—such as prior criminal 
history and the type of weapon used—
and sentencing outcomes.

Sentencing Overview

Armed robbery is by far the most 
common offence to be heard in the 
Victorian higher courts. Between 
2000–01 and 2007–08 armed robbery 
accounted for 12.0% of all sentences (or 
1,921 sentences in total) and was almost 
twice as common as the next most 
frequently heard offences, trafficking 
a drug of dependence (6.5% or 1,043 
sentences) and aggravated burglary (6.1% 
or 979 sentences).

Over the two-year period, there were 694 
charges of armed robbery in 406 cases. 
In 2006–07 the average number of 
armed robbery charges per case was 1.8, 
slightly higher than 1.6 in 2007–08.

Imprisonment was the most common 
sentence for armed robbery in 2006–07 
and 2007–08, accounting for 69.7% of all 
sentences or 484 charges. The second 
most commonly occurring sentence was 
detention in a youth justice centre (11.2% 
or 78 charges), followed by a wholly or 
partially suspended sentence (8.6% 
or 60 charges).

The majority of offenders did not 
have previous convictions for armed 
robbery (80.1%); however, a substantial 
proportion (19.5%) had previously 
committed at least one armed robbery. 
58.9% of offenders had prior convictions 
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FIGURE 3: 
NUMBER OF CHARGES 
FOR PEOPLE WHO 
PLEADED GUILTY 
AND RECEIVED 
IMPRISONMENT BY 
SENTENCE LENGTH, 
2006–07 AND 2007–08

for other offences, and only 29% of 
all offenders had no recorded prior 
convictions, lending support to the 
assertion that armed robbery is a 
crime more frequently committed by 
experienced offenders.

The majority of charges sentenced 
received imprisonment terms between 
2 and 3 years (160).

Profile of Armed Robbery

The data revealed the following profile of 
armed robbery offenders and offences:

 � Armed robbery offenders were 
overwhelmingly male, with only 26 
females sentenced for armed robbery in 
the two years.

 � A knife was the weapon involved in 
59.0% of armed robberies.

 � Retail locations were targeted in 55.9% 
of armed robberies.

 � Armed robberies at banking locations 
were uncommon (1.5%), indicating 
that improved security and ‘target 
hardening’ have reduced the likelihood 
of armed robbery at these locations.

 � Drug and alcohol use was described as 
the motivation in 84.3% of charges.

 � The majority of offenders had previously 
been sentenced for other offences 
(58.9%) but had not previously been 
convicted of armed robbery (80.1%).

 � Around one in five armed robberies 
featured physical violence.

Influence on Sentencing

Regression analyses showed that the 
following factors have an influence on 
sentencing outcomes:

 � Individuals with prior convictions 
for armed robbery were more likely 
to be imprisoned and tended to 
receive longer terms of imprisonment 
(64.6 months or 5.4 years, compared 
to 48.3 months or 4.0 years).

 � Individuals with prior armed robbery 
convictions were around six times more 
likely to receive imprisonment, those 
who used a firearm were three times 
more likely to be imprisoned and those 
on existing orders were two and a half 
times more likely to receive a sentence 
of imprisonment.

 � On average, armed robberies that were 
committed using a firearm received 
imprisonment sentences of 15.45 
months longer than those committed 
with other types of weapons, and 
individuals with prior convictions were 
sentenced to an average of 14.73 
months longer than those offenders 
without prior convictions.

While the typical armed robbery in the public 
mind may be that of the hardened ‘bank 
robber’ with a firearm, the data analysed 
within this profile show that this type of 
robbery is uncommon. Instead, armed 
robbery tends to be a more spontaneous 
crime, motivated by drug or alcohol use and 
undertaken by individuals with a history of 
offending who use knives or other readily 
available implements as their weapons.
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Sentencing Monitoring
The Council launched its online 
sentencing monitoring resource in 
December 2005. This set of statistics, 
drawn from a variety of published 
and unpublished sources, provides a 
comprehensive overview of criminal 
justice system data and sentencing 
trends across Victoria. The resource 
was updated in 2010 to include 
2008–09 data.

Designed to be accessible to a broad 
audience, information is presented in 
visually accessible graphs with plain 
English explanations. Those with a 
specific interest in a particular area 
can download the source data underlying 
the analysis.

People Sentenced

This section analyses trends in the 
number of people sentenced in each 
court between 1999–00 and 2008–09. 
Over this time the Magistrates’ Court 
sentenced the overwhelming majority of 
people (90.3%) followed by the Children’s 
Court (7.5%) and the County and Supreme 
Courts (2.2%).

From 2007–08 to 2008–09 the number 
of people sentenced decreased in the 
Children’s Court and in the higher courts, 
but increased in the Magistrates’ Court:

 � 11.1% in the higher courts (down from 
2,197 to 1,943);

 � 26.0% in the Children’s Court (down 
from 9,437 to 6,986); and

 � 5.7% in the Magistrates’ Court (up from 
88,077 to 93,078).

Sentencing Outcomes

This segment examines trends in the 
types of sentences imposed in the 
various courts. Historical data on 
sentencing trends are also presented 
where available.

In 2008–09, 1,953 people were 
sentenced in the higher courts—a 36% 
increase since 1997–98 (up from 1,431), 
but a decrease since 2007–08 (2,197 or 
11.1%). Of these people:

 � 937 (50%) were sentenced to 
imprisonment;

 � 627 (32%) were sentenced to a wholly 
or partially suspended sentence;

 � 81 (4%) were fined; and

 � 124 (6%) were sentenced to a 
community-based order.

Overall, sentencing trends in the higher 
courts have remained largely consistent 
over the past ten years. Notable changes 
between 1997–98 and 2008–09 were:

 � An increase in the number of people 
sentenced who received wholly and 
partially suspended sentences of 
imprisonment from 469 in 2001–02 to 
a high of 711 in 2004–05. Since then it 
has remained relatively stable, ranging 
between 575 in 2006–07 and 627 in 
2008–09.

 � A steady increase in the number of 
people sentenced to imprisonment from 
586 in 1997–98 to 961 in 2003–04, 
with a marked decline to 817 in 
2004–05, before climbing to 996 in 
2007–08 and falling again to 937 in 
2008–09.
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FIGURE 4: 
SENTENCED PRISONERS 
BY MOST SERIOUS 
OFFENCE, 2009

Prison and Detention

This section provides an extensive 
analysis of trends in imprisonment and 
detention in Victoria, in other Australian 
states and territories and in other 
nations. Long-term trends in prisoner 
populations and imprisonment rates are 
analysed, and comparisons are made 
between the numbers of prisoners 
serving sentences versus being on 
remand awaiting trial. Information is also 
presented about the proportion of people 
released from prison in Victoria who come 
back into contact with corrective services 
(prison or community corrections) within 
two years.

The three most commonly occurring most 
serious offences among all sentenced 
prisoners were:

 � sex offences (17.7%);

 � assault (11.6%); and

 � drug offences (11.6%).

Community Corrections

These sections present information on 
people sentenced to correctional orders 
to be served in the community, and the 
number and rate of young people currently 
held in detention. Selected information 
from other jurisdictions is also presented 
for comparison.
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Measuring Public Opinion
One of the Council’s statutory functions under section 108C(1)(d) 
is to gauge public opinion on sentencing matters. This is separate 
from, but linked to, the Council’s function under section 108C(1)(e) 
to consult on sentencing matters.

There are many challenges involved in gauging public opinion. 
Much of the time, the voice of the general community is heard via 
the media. However, the methods used by the media to gather 
information on ‘what the public thinks’ do not always provide a 
deeper understanding of the subtleties of community attitudes on 
complex issues.

The Council has continued its work in this area throughout 2009–10, 
primarily through its participation in a national study on public 
opinion about sentencing.

Sentencing and Public 
Confidence: Public Perception 
and the Role of the Public in 
Sentencing Practice and Policy
Since 2008–09 the Council has been 
involved in a large-scale, representative 
survey of public opinion about sentencing.

The Council joined a national research 
project funded by the Australian 
Research Council. The research is multi-
jurisdictional, involving the following Chief 
Investigators:

 � Professor Geraldine Mackenzie (Bond 
University);

 � Dr David Indermaur (Crime Research 
Centre, University of Western Australia);

 � Professor Rod Broadhurst (Australian 
National University);

 � Professor Kate Warner (University of 
Tasmania);

 � Dr Lynne Roberts (Curtin University); 
and

 � Mr Nigel Stobbs (Queensland University 
of Technology).

Public confidence is critical to the 
effective operation of the criminal justice 
system. The research will generate 
much-needed current national data on 
public attitudes about sentencing and 
will examine avenues for incorporating 
public opinion into sentencing policy and 
processes.

Specifically, the aims of the research are 
as follows:

 � to measure public confidence in 
sentencing;

 � to analyse predictors of confidence;

 � to assess the malleability of confidence 
as a measure of likely tolerance of 
reform;

 � to examine the stability of punitive 
attitudes over time; and

 � to apply focus group methods to assess 
ways in which opinion can be measured 
to inform sentencing policy.
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The research involves a longitudinal 
design that surveys people repeatedly 
over four separate phases:

 � Phase 1—A large national telephone 
survey, in each state and territory, 
allowing comparisons across 
jurisdictions in top-of-the-head 
responses to questions about 
sentencing and the courts.

 � Phase 2—An in-depth survey for 
selected respondents from the first 
phase to see if opinions will change 
with the provision of more information 
about sentencing.

 � Phase 3—A series of deliberative 
discussion groups to provide 
participants with more detailed 
information about sentencing and 
with an opportunity for considered 
discussion and debate about 
sentencing issues.

 � Phase 4—A final survey of people from 
each of the previous three phases 
to determine whether any changes in 
opinions about sentencing and the 
courts are maintained over time.

This financial year saw the completion 
of the data collection phase of the 
research. In late 2009 several discussion 
groups were held in Brisbane, Perth and 
Melbourne. Using a video presentation, 
participants were provided with 
information about two key policy issues 
in sentencing: mandatory sentencing and 
alternatives to imprisonment.

The video presentation also considered 
arguments for and against mandatory 
sentencing and increasing the use of 
alternatives to imprisonment. Participants 
were then asked to apply the information 
and arguments presented to their own 
discussion of each of the issues. In 
particular, participants were assigned 
the task of trying to reach consensus 
on a single group position on mandatory 
sentencing and another on increasing the 
use of alternatives to imprisonment.

The resulting discussion and debate 
allowed people to consider the views of 
others, to put forward arguments based 
on a common knowledge of the factual 
information provided, and to debate 
the advantages and disadvantages of 
various positions. Feedback from the 
events showed that people found the 
three-hour deliberations to be informative, 
stimulating, challenging and enjoyable.

The final component of the research—
the Phase 4 survey—was completed in 
May 2010. Respondents to this short 
survey were drawn from each of the 
three previous phases, allowing for an 
examination of the extent to which any 
changes in opinion brought about by 
participating in Phase 2 or 3 of the study 
have been maintained over time. This 
final phase allows us to consider the 
central question of the research: whether 
enduring changes in public opinion on 
sentencing can be achieved.

The Council’s work on measuring public 
opinion for the next financial year will 
revolve around analysis of the large 
amount of data that has been generated 
by this project. We expect that the 
many and varied questions that can be 
examined with these data will lead to 
several publications in peer-reviewed 
journals over the coming years.

The process of providing information and 
allowing for deliberation and discussion 
is central to serious attempts to measure 
informed public attitudes (public 
judgment) as opposed to top-of-the-head 
responses (mass public opinion). This 
research has provided the public with just 
such an opportunity.
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Community Information 
and Education

You be the Judge

‘You be the Judge’ is the Council’s hallmark community education 
program. The aim of the program is to enhance community 
knowledge of sentencing and to impart some understanding of the 
complexities inherent in the sentencing process.

‘You be the Judge’ sessions are run regularly for a variety of 
audiences, and there are now two teachers’ kits based on the 
program.

Sessions

In early 2009 the ‘You be the Judge’ 
sessions were redeveloped to incorporate 
broader learning outcomes. In addition, 
greater audience participation has been 
built into the program via the use of an 
audience response system with which 
participants can key in their responses 
to a series of questions, with the results 
being presented in real time as part of 
the presentation.

Up until the end of June 2010 nearly 
2000 participants were involved in 
51 sessions in locations throughout 
Victoria. Groups spoken to included Court 
Network, Rotary, Probus, University of the 
Third Age, Victorian Commercial Teachers’ 
Association and fifteen school groups.

Virtual ‘You be the Judge’

The Sentencing Advisory Council is currently 
developing an online interactive version 
of its ‘You be the Judge’ program. It is 
anticipated that Virtual ‘You be the Judge’ 
will be launched on the Council’s website 
early in the 2010–11 financial year.

Teaching Material

The You be the Judge teachers’ kit 
continues to be a very popular resource 
with teachers of Years 9 to 12. The 
material was developed to assist 
teachers in educating students about 
the purposes, methods and complexities 
of sentencing. The program uses real 
sentencing case studies that provide 
a vehicle for students to discuss 
and consider offences committed, to 
apply the principles of sentencing and 
to experience for themselves some 
of what is involved in handing down 
a sentence.

In October 2009 the Council released 
two new teachers’ kits, dividing the 
original kit into two products—one 
for VCE Legal Studies and a new kit 
specifically targeted at several domains 
within the Victorian Essential Learning 
Standards (VELS) Years 9 and 10 
curriculum. The curriculum for both 
areas was reviewed to ensure continuing 
relevance, and new case studies were 
produced for both kits.
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The VELS kit encourages teachers to 
team-teach across a number of domains, 
including English, Mathematics, the Arts 
and Information Technology. An important 
aspect of You be the Judge is the 
opportunity to teach and develop thinking 
skills—applied intellectual activities that 
use information to achieve outcomes 
and include elements such as solving 
problems, making decisions, thinking 
critically, developing an argument and using 
evidence in support of that argument.

You be the Judge also provides useful and 
timely links with the National Framework 
for Values Education in Australian Schools. 
The program ties in very closely with 
all nine Values for Australian Schooling 
articulated in the National Framework and 
supports values education by exploring 
both the values reflected in the sentencing 
component of the justice system and the 
interpretation of these values by those who 
have participated in the system.

Website
The Council’s website 
<www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au> 
continues to be an important tool for 
delivering information about sentencing in 
Victoria. As well as providing information 
about the Council’s objectives, structure 
and activities, the site contains:

 � sentencing statistics—with around 
60 pages of graphs and commentary 
on data such as prison populations, 
sentencing outcomes and community 
corrections;

 � Council projects—which provides up-to-
date information on terms of reference 
for projects and how members of the 
community can become involved, and 
access to the many reports produced 
as a result of all the research and 
consultation we undertake; and

 � plain-English information about how 
sentencing operates in Victoria—this area 
of the site looks at the law, processes 
for sentencing and all of the sentencing 
options from imprisonment to dismissals 
for both adults and young people.

There are now 180 publications on the 
site as PDF (portable document format) 
documents, ranging in size from one page 
up to 348 pages.

The growing amount of information on 
the site corresponds to an increasing 
number of visitors. During 2009–10 there 
were over 36,000 user sessions, a 24% 
increase on the previous year.

The Council makes every effort to 
ensure that the website reaches AA 
standard accessibility according to the 
World Wide Web Consortium. Users 
of the site are encouraged to provide 
feedback on their experience in using 
the site and on any new content they 
would like us to produce. A feedback 
form is available to assist in providing 
comments.

Figure 5 shows the number of user 
sessions for the Council’s website over 
the last four years.

FIGURE 5: 
NUMBER OF USER 
SESSIONS FROM 
2006–07 TO 2009–10
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Speaking Engagements, 
Media Mentions and 
Other Citations
During 2009–10 the Council had a 
number of speaking engagements 
including:

 � 51 ‘You be the Judge’ sessions;

 � three teacher professional development 
sessions for the Victorian Commercial 
Teachers’ Association;

 � two conference presentations, titled 
‘Informing the Public About Sentencing: 
Whose Job Is It?’ and ‘Sentencing 
for Offences Motivated by Hatred or 
Prejudice’, at the 2010 ANU Sentencing 
Conference; and

 � a session on sentencing fraud 
offenders at the Australian Institute of 
Professional Investigators, Melbourne.

The Council also continued to gather 
significant attention in the media over the 
course of the year, in particular around 
the release of its various publications. 
The Council’s work was reported in more 
than 81 newspaper articles and television 
and radio segments during 2009–10.

The Council’s work is now also widely 
cited in judicial and academic circles. 
The Council’s reports and it Sentencing 
Snapshots were cited in more than 22 
judgments during 2009–10 in the Court 
of Appeal and the Supreme Court:

 � DPP v Kuru [2009] VSCA 206;

 � DPP v W R J [2009] VSCA 174;

 � DPP v M M [2009] VSC 336;

 � R v Tran [2009] VSCA 252;

 � Bala v The Queen [2010] VSCA 78;

 � R v Danh [2009] VSCA 251;

 � DPP v Terrick [2009] VSCA 220;

 � DPP v Patterson [2009] VSCA 222;

 � DPP v Moses [2009] VSCA 274;

 � DPP v D Z [2009] VSCA 301;

 � R v Broadbent [2009] VSCA 320;

 � DPP v Martin [2009] VSCA 316;

 � R v Bloomfield [2009] VSCA 302;

 � DPP v B D J [2009] VSCA 298;

 � DPP v Nguyen [2010] VSCA 31;

 � R v Carroll [2010] VSCA 20;

 � R v Robazzini [2010] VSCA 8;

 � P D A v The Queen [2010] VSCA 94;

 � Leeder v The Queen [2010] VSCA 98;

 � Nguyen v The Queen [2010] VSCA 127;

 � Winch v The Queen [2010] VSCA 141; and

 � O A A v The Queen [2010] VSCA 155).
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In addition, in August 2009 Justice David 
Harper in his sentencing remarks for 
DPP v MM [2009] VSC 336 stated:

It is nevertheless wrong for the media 
to claim to reflect public opinion 
(and so, for example, to speak of 
an increase in public concern about 
sentencing practices) unless that 
reflection is based upon the best 
available research about what public 
opinion really is.

The best known to me is surveyed 
in a paper written by Dr Karen Gelb 
and published last September by 
the Sentencing Advisory Council of 
Victoria. Dr Gelb concludes that the 
public tends to learn about crime and 
the criminal justice system through 
the mass media; but that media’s 
portrayal of crime stories does not 
provide a complete and accurate 
picture. The media, she writes, tends 
to report selectively, choosing stories, 
and aspects of stories, with the aim 
of entertaining more than informing. 
According to Dr Gelb, media focus on 
crime causes the public to perceive 
crime as a more serious problem than 
it is in reality, and so to conclude that 
sentences are too lenient.

I interpolate to acknowledge that 
sometimes, of course, the courts get it 
wrong. Sometimes sentences are too 
lenient; and sometimes, too severe. 
But (to return to Dr Gelb’s paper) when 
the public is given information which 
more or less matches that available 
to the judge, ‘judicial sentences and 
public sentences are very similar.’ Dr 
Gelb writes that ‘[d]espite apparent 
punitiveness, public sentencing 
preferences are actually very similar 
to those expressed by the judiciary 
or actually used by the courts.’ As 
things are, however, the public’s 
perception is in her opinion distorted 
by the inaccuracy of the knowledge it 
obtains through the media, and the 
public confidence necessary for the 
proper administration of justice is 
unnecessarily diminished.

If Dr Gelb is correct, the media is not, 
in its reporting in this area, advancing 
the public’s right to know. On the 
contrary (if Dr Gelb is correct) the 
media is in this respect working to 
defeat the public interest. As for the 
courts, in seeking to reflect community 
values they have no choice but to 
prefer the best evidence. It follows 
that, for the present at least, they 
must prefer the expertise of, and 
the research done by, those such as 
Dr Gelb.

Mackenzie and Stobbs also cited the work 
of the Council, with respect to a number 
of aspects of the Council’s functions, in 
their 2010 book, Principles of Sentencing. 
The authors cite the Council’s work on 
community involvement in sentencing 
(in particular, the ‘You be the Judge’ 
seminars), as well as its research 
on public opinion on sentencing and 
recidivism of sex offenders (p. 2; 220). 
In addition, the authors note that New 
South Wales and Victoria, with the 
Sentencing Advisory Council, have ‘the 
best information available’ for judges 
on comparative sentences for specific 
offences (p. 36).

The Council’s Chair wrote an article, 
‘Australia: Exercising Discretion in 
Sentencing Policy and Practice’, that 
was published in the Federal Sentencing 
Reporter in April 2010. In addition, the 
Council’s work on hate crimes was cited 
in the Tasmanian Law Reform Institute’s 
Issues Paper, Racial Vilification and 
Racially Motivated Offences, in June 2010.
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Organisational Governance 
and Statutory Compliance
As a Public Entity, accountable and effective governance is 
required under the Financial Management Act 1994, the Public 
Administration Act 2004, the Audit Act 1994, and other applicable 
laws, regulations and directions from the Minister of Finance.

The Council has undertaken to complete compliance certification 
under the Financial Management Certification Framework in 
conjunction with the Department of Justice.

Human Resource Management
The Sentencing Advisory Council 
promotes the personal and professional 
development of its staff in order to 
achieve sustained improvements and 
to create satisfying career paths. The 
Council actively promotes safe work 
practices, career development, work–
life balance and a friendly and non-
discriminatory working environment.

Staff Development and Training
During 2009–10, the Sentencing Advisory 
Council offered a wide range of programs 
to equip staff with the knowledge and 
skills required to perform their jobs 
successfully. Staff members were 
encouraged to extend their professional 
skills via:

 � attendance at internal and external 
professional development courses 
in communication, finance, personal 
development, statistics and information 
technology;

 � attendance and presentation of papers 
at relevant conferences;

 � executive and management training 
programs; and

 � assistance to staff members 
undertaking undergraduate and 
postgraduate studies.
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Financial Management
The Council and Secretariat abide 
by a Financial Code of Practice that 
encompasses procurement, the use of 
assets and resources, potential conflicts 
of interest, secondary employment, 
financial gifts and gratuities. Employees 
are subject to the Department of 
Justice Code of Conduct (consistent 
with the Victorian Public Service Code 
of Conduct and the objectives of the 
Public Administration Act 2004) and 
regular financial reporting is scrutinised 
by internal audit provided by Oakton 
Services.

Outsourced Consultancies 
and Major Contracts
There were no outsourced consultancies 
or contracts in excess of $100,000.

Privacy
The Sentencing Advisory Council manages 
personal information in accordance with 
the Information Privacy Act 2000 and its 
privacy policy. Regular reviews are carried 
out in relation to the recording of personal 
information to ensure that the Council 
is in compliance with regulations. There 
were no privacy related complaints for the 
year ending 30 June 2010.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 
allows the public the right to access 
documents held by the Council. For the 
year ending 30 June 2010 there were no 
FOI applications.

Whistleblowers
The Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 
encourages and facilitates disclosures 
of improper conduct by public officers 
and public bodies. For the year ending 
30 June 2010 the Council was not 
subject to any complaints or disclosures.

Compliance with the 
Building Act 1993
The Sentencing Advisory Council does not 
own or control any government buildings 
in so far as the Council utilises building 
infrastructure and property services 
provided by the Department of Justice.

Implementation of 
the Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy 
Act 2003 requires public bodies and 
departments to report on the application 
of the Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy in all tenders over $3 million in 
metropolitan Melbourne and $1 million in 
regional Victoria. While the Council uses 
local suppliers for goods and services the 
policy does not apply to the Council due 
to the threshold of expenditure.

Occupational Health 
and Safety
The Council has assigned an 
Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) 
Officer and OHS has been factored into 
the Council’s overall risk management 
framework. In addition to attending OHS 
presentations, all staff are provided with 
materials on the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act 2004 and with guides on 
ergonomic assessment. Staff also have 
access to ergonomic equipment and to 
assessments by qualified professionals, 
and all have participated in fire-drill 
evacuation exercises. There were no 
claims of OHS related injury for the year 
ending 30 June 2010.

Industrial Relations
The Council enjoys a cooperative 
relationship with employee representative 
organisations. For the year ending 30 
June 2010 no time was lost through 
industrial disputes or accidents.
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Merit and Equity
Department of Justice merit and equity 
principles are applied in the appointment 
and management of staff and the 
Council’s guiding principles are consistent 
with the public sector values and 
employment principles articulated in the 
Public Administration Act 2004.

Social and Cultural Diversity
The Council acknowledges the importance 
of cultural diversity and endeavours to 
maintain an inclusive, consultative and 
open approach to its work. Diversity is 
enhanced through the selection criteria 
of Council members (appointed by the 
Attorney-General), staff recruitment, 
student research placements and a broad 
community consultation strategy that 
includes a diverse range of individuals 
and community groups.

Environmental Management 
and Impacts
The Council plays an active role in 
reducing its environmental impact by 
operating within the Department of 
Justice’s Environmental Management 
policy and participating in Sustainability 
Victoria’s ResourceSmart government 
program. Under this program, a strategy 
has been developed which aims to 
improve the Council’s performance in 
relation to energy, water and paper 
consumption, recycling and waste 
management. In addition, the Council 
has a nominated Environment Officer 
who represents the Council on the 
Department’s ‘Justice Environment 
Network’.

Audit and Finance Committee
Because of their small size and to 
maximise the most effective use of 
limited resources, the Sentencing 
Advisory Council and the Judicial College 
of Victoria combined to establish a joint 
Audit and Finance Committee to oversee 
their financial operations. The committee 
currently consists of the following 
members:

 � David Greenall (Chairperson—
independent member);

 � Prue Boughey (Sentencing Advisory 
Council representative);

 � Gep Blake (Judicial College of Victoria 
representative); and

 � Geoff Davine (independent member—
Courts and Tribunals Unit, Department 
of Justice).

Tony Phillips, a Financial Consultant, is 
the Council’s Chief Financial Accounting 
Officer and attends committee meetings 
by standing invitation, providing finance 
support as required. The Chief Executive 
Officers of both organisations and a 
representative of the Office of the Auditor-
General also attend meetings by standing 
invitation.
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The Audit and Finance Committee 
undertakes the oversight of:

 � financial performance and the financial 
reporting process, including the annual 
financial statements;

 � the scope of work, performance and 
independence of internal audit;

 � the scope of work, performance and 
independence of the external auditor;

 � the operation and implementation of 
the risk management framework;

 � matters of accountability and internal 
control affecting the operations of the 
Council;

 � the effectiveness of management 
information systems and other systems 
of internal control;

 � the acceptability of, correct accounting 
treatment for and disclosure of 
significant transactions that are not 
part of the Council’s normal course of 
business;

 � the sign-off of accounting policies; and

 � the Council’s process for monitoring 
compliance with laws and regulations 
and its own code of conduct and code 
of financial practice.

In performing its duties, the Audit and 
Finance Committee maintains an effective 
working relationship with the management 
of the Council Secretariat, the Council 
board and both internal and external 
auditors.

Risk Management
In accordance with DTF Standing Direction 
4.5.5, the following attestation of 
compliance is made following agreement 
by the Audit and Finance Committee that 
such an assurance can be given:

I, Stephen Farrow (CEO), certify that 
the Sentencing Advisory Council has 
risk management processes in place 
consistent with the Australian/New 
Zealand Risk Management Standard 
and an internal control system is in 
place that enables the executive to 
understand, manage and satisfactorily 
control risk exposures. The Audit 
and Finance Committee verifies this 
assurance and that the risk profile of 
the Sentencing Advisory Council has 
been critically reviewed within the last 
12 months.

Stephen Farrow 
Chief Executive Officer 
Sentencing Advisory Council

Additional Information
The Council’s published reports and other 
public documents are all available online 
at <www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au>. 
Any other relevant information in relation 
to the financial year is retained by the 
accountable officer and is available on 
request subject to Freedom of Information 
requirements and our Privacy policy.
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The Annual Report of the Sentencing Advisory Council is prepared in accordance with all 
relevant Victorian legislation. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of 
the Council’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page 
Reference

Report of Operations – FRD Guidance

Charter & purpose

FRD 22B Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 10, 57, 77

FRD 22B Objectives, functions, powers and duties 10–12, 57

FRD 22B Nature of range of services provided 10–12, 20–41

Management & structure

FRD 22B Organisational structure 19

Financial and other information

FRD 8A Budget portfolio outcomes –

FRD 10 Disclosure index 46–47

FRD 12A Disclosure of major contracts 43

FRD 15B Executive officer disclosures 76–77

FRD 22B, 
SD 4.2(k)

Operational and budgetary objectives and performance 
against objectives

 
2–5, 10–12, 

20–41

FRD 22B Employment and conduct principles 42, 43–44

FRD 22B Occupational health and safety policy 43

FRD 22B Summary of the financial results for the year 52–54

FRD 22B Significant changes in financial position during the year –

FRD 22B Major changes or factors affecting performance –

FRD 22B Subsequent events 78

FRD 22B Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 43

FRD 22B Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of 
Building Act 1993

 
43

FRD 22B Statement on National Competition Policy –

FRD 22B Application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 43

FRD 22B Details of consultancies over $100,000 43

FRD 22B Details of consultancies under $100,000 –

Disclosure Index
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FRD 22B Statement of availability of other information 45

FRD 24C Reporting of office-based environmental impacts 44

FRD 25 Victorian Industry Participation Policy Disclosures 43

FRD 29 Workforce Data disclosures 43

SD 4.5.5 Risk management compliance attestation 45

SD 4.2(g) General information requirements 43

SD 4.2(j) Sign-off requirements 45, 49, 51

Financial Report

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD 4.2(a) Statement of changes in equity 54

SD 4.2(b) Operating statement 52

SD 4.2(b) Balance sheet 53

SD 4.2(b) Cash flow statement 55

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2

SD 4.2(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and 
other authoritative pronouncements

 
50–51, 63–66

SD 4.2(a) Statement of Compliance 56

SD 4.2(d) Rounding of amounts 63

SD 4.2(c) Accountable officer’s declaration 49

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements

FRD 9A Departmental disclosure of administered assets and liabilities 53

FRD 11 Disclosure of ex-gratia payments –

FRD 13 Disclosure of parliamentary appropriations 55

FRD 21A Responsible person and executive officer disclosures 76–77

FRD 103D Non-current physical assets 53

FRD 104 Foreign currency 63

FRD 106 Impairment of assets –

FRD 109 Intangible assets –

FRD 110 Cash flow statements 55

FRD 112A Defined benefit superannuation obligations 72

FRD 114A Financial Instruments – General government entities and 
public non-financial corporations

 
73–75

FRD 119 Contribution by owners 62

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 43

Building Act 1983 43

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 43

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 43

Financial Management Act 1994 43

Multicultural Victoria Act 2004 –
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Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance and 
Accounting Officer’s Declaration
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Auditor-General’s Report
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Comprehensive Operating Statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2010

Notes 2010 
$

2009 
$

Income from transactions 
Grant from the Department of Justice

 
2

 
1,904,200

 
1,979,200

Total income from transactions 1,904,200 1,979,200

Expenses from transactions 
Employee expenses 
Other operating expenses

 
3(a) 
3(b)

 
1,392,259 

445,452

 
1,286,108 

605,053

Total expenses from transactions 1,837,711 1,891,161

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 66,489 88,039

Other economic flows included in net result 
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

 
4

 
822

 
(8,520)

Total other economic flows included in net result 822 (8,520)

Net result 67,311 79,519

Comprehensive result 67,311 79,519

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes included on pages 56–66, 67–68.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2010

Notes 2010 
$

2009 
$

Assets 
 
Financial assets
Cash and deposits 
Receivables

 
 
 

14(a) 
5

 
 
 

500 
531,102

 
 
 

500 
495,622

Total financial assets 531,602 496,122

Total assets 531,602 496,122

Liabilities 
Payables 
Provisions

 
7 
8

 
77,507 

232,930

 
116,022 
226,246

Total liabilities 310,437 342,268

Net assets 221,165 153,854

Equity 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
Contributed capital

 
(96,212) 
317,377

 
(163,523) 

317,377

Net worth 221,165 153,854

– Commitments for expenditure 
– Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

11 
12

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes included 
on pages 56–66, 68, 69–71, 72–73, 75.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 30 June 2010

Equity at 
1 July 2009 

 
 
$

Total 
comprehensive 

result 
 

$

Transactions 
with owners in 
its capacity as 

owner 
$

Equity at 
30 June 

2010 
 

$

Accumulated surplus/
(deficit) (163,523) 67,311 – (96,212)

Contributions by owners 317,377 – – 317,377

Total equity at end of 
financial year 153,854 67,311 – 221,165

Equity at 
1 July 2008 

 

Total 
comprehensive 

result 

Transactions 
with owners in 
its capacity as 

owner

Equity at 
30 June 

2009 

Accumulated surplus/
(deficit) (243,042) 79,519 – (163,523)

Contributions by owners 317,377 – – 317,377

Total equity at end of 
financial year 74,335 79,519 – 153,854

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes included in the following pages.
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Cash Flow Statement
for the financial year ended 30 June 2010

Note 2010 
$

2009 
$

Cash flows from operating activities 
 
Receipts
Receipts from the Department of Justice

 
 
 

1,868,720

 
 
 

1,813,429

Total receipts 1,868,720 1,813,429

Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees

 
(1,868,720)

 
(1,813,429)

Total payments (1,868,720) (1,813,429)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating 
activities

 
14(b)

 
–

 
–

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
financial year

 
– 
 

500

 
– 
 

500

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
financial year

 
14(a)

 
500

 
500

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes included on page 75.



S
E

N
TE

N
C

IN
G

 A
D

V
IS

O
R

Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T 

2
0

0
9

–2
0

1
0

56

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial 
statements for the Sentencing Advisory Council (SAC).

To obtain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of 
terms can be found in Note 18.

(A) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards 
including interpretations (AASs). AASs include Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

Where applicable, those paragraphs of the AASs applicable to not for profit entities have 
been applied.

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Chairperson of the 
Sentencing Advisory Council on 26 August 2010.

(B) Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial 
statements whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in 
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and 
presentation currency of SAC.

In the application of AASs, management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision, and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgements made by management 
in the application of the AASs that have significant effects on the financial statements 
and estimates, with the risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting period, 
are disclosed throughout the notes to the financial statements.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention except 
for: 

 – non-current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured 
at a revalued amount being the fair value at the date of the revaluation less 

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2010
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any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. 
Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts 
do not materially differ from their fair value;

 – the fair value of an asset other than land is generally based on its depreciated 
replacement value.

Historical cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for 
assets.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the 
resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby 
ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 and the comparative information 
presented for the year ended 30 June 2009.

(C) Reporting Entity

The financial statements cover the Sentencing Advisory Council (SAC) as an individual 
reporting entity.

The Sentencing Advisory Council (SAC) is an independent government-funded body 
established in July 2004 by the Sentencing (Amendment) Act 2003. The Council was 
formed to implement a key recommendation arising out of Professor Arie Freiberg’s 
2002 review of sentencing in Victoria. The “Pathways to Justice” report recognised 
the need for a body that would allow properly informed public opinion to be taken 
into account in the sentencing process, as well as the dissemination of up-to-date 
and accurate sentencing data to assist judges in their role to promote consistency in 
sentencing outcomes. 

Its principal address is:

Sentencing Advisory Council 
4/436 Lonsdale Street 
MELBOURNE VIC 3000

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of SAC.

A description of the nature of SAC’s functions and its principal activities is included 
in the Report of Operations on page 8 which does not form part of these financial 
statements.

Functions and Funding

SAC’s functions are set out in section 108C of the Sentencing Act 1991 and are 
to provide statistical information on sentencing, including information on current 
sentencing practices, to members of the judiciary and other interested persons; to 
conduct research, and disseminate information to members of the judiciary and other 
interested persons, on sentencing matters; to gauge public opinion on sentencing 
matters; to consult, on sentencing matters, with government departments and other 
interested persons and bodies as well as the general public; to advise the Attorney-
General on sentencing matters; and to state in writing to the Court of Appeal its views in 
relation to the giving, or review, of a guideline judgment. 

SAC is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory function. Funds 
are from accrual-based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by Parliament 
through the Department of Justice (DoJ).
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(D) Scope and Presentation of Financial Statements

Comprehensive Operating Statement

Income and expenses in the comprehensive operating statement are classified 
according to whether or not they arise from ‘transactions’ or ‘other economic flows’. This 
classification is consistent with the whole of government reporting format and is allowed 
under AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

‘Transactions’ and ‘other economic flows’ are defined by the Australian system of 
government finance statistics: concepts, sources and methods 2005 Cat. No. 5514.0 
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (see note 18).

‘Transactions’ are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy 
decisions, usually interactions between two entities by mutual agreement. Transactions 
also include flows within an entity, such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously 
acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided 
by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between government 
and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or 
for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is in cash.

‘Other economic flows’ are changes arising from market re-measurements. They 
include gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-current 
physical and intangible assets; actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit 
superannuation plans; fair value changes of financial instruments and agricultural 
assets; and depletion of natural assets (non produced) from their use or removal.

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs.

Balance Sheet

Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into, 
financial assets and non-financial assets. 

Current and non-current assets and liabilities (those expected to be recovered or settled 
beyond 12 months) are disclosed in the notes, where relevant.

Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and 
owner equity opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing 
balance at the end of the reporting period. It shows separately changes due to 
amounts recognised in the comprehensive result and amounts recognised in other 
comprehensive income related to other non-owner changes in equity.

Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating 
activities, investing activities or financing activities. This classification is consistent with 
requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.

(E) Income from Transactions

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the entity and the income can be reliably measured.

Where applicable, amounts disclosed as income are, where applicable, net of returns, 
allowances and duties and taxes.

Income is recognised for SAC’s major activities as follows:
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Grants from the Department of Justice

Income from the outputs SAC provides to Government is recognised when those outputs 
have been delivered and the relevant minister has certified delivery of those outputs in 
accordance with the specified performance criteria.

(F) Expenses from Transactions

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which 
they relate.

Employee Expenses

Employee expenses include superannuation expenses which are reported differently 
depending upon whether employees are members of defined benefit or defined 
contribution plans. In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation 
plans, the associated expense is simply the employer contributions that are paid or 
payable in respect of employees who are members of these plans during the reporting 
period. Employer superannuation expenses in relation to employees who are members 
of defined benefits superannuation plans are described below.

Superannuation – State Superannuation Defined Benefit Plans

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to 
employer contributions for members of defined benefit superannuation plans is simply 
the employer contributions that are paid or payable to these plans during the reporting 
period. The level of these contributions will vary depending upon the relevant rules of 
each plan, and is based upon actuarial advice.

The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) in their Annual Financial Statements, 
recognise on behalf of the State as the sponsoring employer, the net defined benefit 
cost related to the members of these plans. Refer to DTF’s Annual Financial Statements 
for more detailed disclosures in relation to these plans.

Depreciation and Amortisation

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated 
useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period.

Interest Expense

Interest expenses are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred 
and comprise finance lease charges.

Other Operating Expenses

Supplies and services

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in 
which they are incurred.

(G) Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result

Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that 
do not result from transactions. These include:

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains and losses from:
– the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in 
the bond interest rates.
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(H) Financial Assets

Cash and Deposits

Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents, comprise cash on hand. For the cash flow 
statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand.

Receivables

Receivables consist predominantly of amounts owing from the Department of Justice. 
Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments. Amounts owing 
from the Department of Justice/Victorian Government are statutory receivables that are 
not classified as financial instruments.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method, less an allowance for impairment.

(I) Non Financial Assets

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

(J) Liabilities

Payables

Payables consist predominantly of accounts payable and other sundry liabilities. 
Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to SAC prior to 
the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when SAC becomes obliged to 
make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services.

Other liabilities included in payables mainly consist of accrued salaries and fringe 
benefits tax payable.

Payables are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the goods and services, 
and then subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the borrowings, net of 
transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised cost with 
any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in net result over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
rate method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when SAC has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of 
economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured 
reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cashflows.
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Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

(i) Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and 
accumulating sick leave which are expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting period are recognised in the provision for employee benefits. These liabilities 
are classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.

Those liabilities that are not expected to be settled within 12 months are recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, measured at present value of 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

(ii) Long Service Leave

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

 � Current liability – unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements as a current liability even where SAC does not expect to settle the 
liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

– nominal value – component that SAC expects to settle within 12 months; and

– present value – component that SAC does not expect to settle within 12 months.

 � Non-current liability – conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is 
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee 
has completed the requisite years of service.

This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value. Gain or loss following 
revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond 
interest rates for which it is then recognised as an other economic flow (refer to 
Note 1 (G)).

(iii) Employee Benefits On-costs

Employee benefits on-costs (payroll tax, workers compensation, superannuation, annual 
leave and LSL accrued while on LSL taken in service) are recognised separately from the 
provision for employee benefits.

(K) Leases

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment.

Leases are classified at inception as either operating or finance leases based on the 
economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. Leases of plant and equipment are classified as finance infrastructure 
leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership from lessor to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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Finance Leases

SAC as Lessee

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as 
assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, 
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the 
inception of the lease. The lease asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the reduction of the outstanding 
lease liability, and periodic finance expense which is calculated using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease and charged directly to the comprehensive operating statement.

Operating Leases

SAC as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive 
operating statement on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from 
the use of the leased asset. The lease asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.

(L) Equity

Contribution by Owners

Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are 
recognised as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions 
or distributions have also been designated as contribution by owners.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as 
distributions to or contributions by owners.

(M) Commitments

Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and inclusive of the GST payable. In 
addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information 
for users, the net present values of significant individual projects are stated.

(N) Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, 
but are disclosed by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or 
payable respectively.

(O) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, 
unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated exclusive of the amount of GST receivable or 
payable. The Department of Justice (DoJ) manages the GST transactions on behalf of 
SAC and the net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the Australian Taxation 
Office is recognised in the financial statements of DoJ.
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(P) Events after the Reporting Date

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past 
events. Where the transactions result from an agreement between SAC and other 
parties, the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or 
before the end of the reporting period. Adjustments are made to amounts recognised 
in the financial statements for events which occur after the reporting date and before 
the date the financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide 
information about conditions which existed in the reporting period. Note disclosure is 
made about events between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial 
statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose 
after the end of the reporting period and which may have a material impact on the 
results of subsequent years.

(Q) Foreign Currency

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using 
the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign monetary items at 
reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at reporting date.

(R) Rounding of Amounts

Amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless 
otherwise stated. Figures in the financial statements may not equate due to rounding.

(S) AASs Issued That Are Not Yet Effective

Certain new AASs have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2010 
reporting period. The Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of these 
new standards and advises departments and other entities of their applicability and 
early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2010, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but 
were not mandatory for financial year ending 30 June 2010. SAC has not early adopted 
these standards.

Standard/
Interpretation

Summary Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning or 
ending on

Impact on 
SAC financial 
statements

AASB 9 Financial 
instruments

This standard simplifies 
requirements for the 
classification and 
measurement of financial 
assets resulting from 
Phase 1 of the IASB’s 
project to replace IAS 39 
Financial instruments, 
recognition and 
measurement (AASB 139 
financial instruments, 
recognition and 
measurement).

Beginning 1 
January 2013

Detail of the 
impact is still being 
assessed.
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AASB 124 related 
party disclosures 
(Dec 2009)

Government related 
entities have been 
granted partial exemption 
with certain disclosure 
requirements.

Beginning 1 
January 2011

Preliminary 
assessment 
suggests that 
impact is 
insignificant. 
However SAC is 
still assessing the 
detailed impact and 
whether to early 
adopt.

AASB 2009–5 
Further 
amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from the annual 
improvements 
project (AASB 5, 8, 
101, 107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139)

Some amendments will 
result in accounting 
changes for presentation, 
recognition or 
measurement purposes, 
while other amendments 
will relate to terminology 
and editorial changes.

Beginning 1 
January 2010

Terminology and 
editorial changes. 
Impact minor.

AASB 2009–8 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – group 
cash-settled share-
based payment 
transactions 
(AASB 2) 

The amendments clarify 
the scope of AASB 2.

Beginning 1 
January 2010

No impact. AASB 
2 does not apply 
to government 
departments 
or entities; 
consequently this 
standard does not 
apply.

AASB 2009–9 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
– additional 
exemptions for 
first time adopters 
(AASB 1) 

Applies to entities 
adopting Australian 
Accounting Standards for 
the first time, to ensure 
entities will not face 
undue cost or effort in 
the transition process in 
particular situations.

Beginning 1 
January 2010

No impact. 
Relates only to 
first time adopters 
of Australian 
Accounting 
Standards.

AASB 2009–10 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
classification 
of rights issues 
(AASB 132) 

The Standard makes 
amendments to AASB 
132, stating that rights 
issues must now be 
classed as equity rather 
than derivative liabilities.

Beginning 1 
February 2010

No Impact. SAC 
does not issue 
rights, warrants 
and options, 
consequently the 
amendment does 
not impact on the 
statements.
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AASB 2009–11 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
AASB 9 (AASB 1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 
136, 139, 1023, 
& 1038 and 
Interpretations 
10 & 12)

This gives effect to 
consequential changes 
arising from the issuance 
of AASB 9.

Beginning 1 
January 2013

Detail of impact 
is still being 
assessed.

AASB 2009–12 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards (AASBs 
5, 8, 108, 110, 
112, 119, 133, 
137, 139, 1023 
& 1031 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 
16, 1039 & 1052)

This Standard amends 
AASB 8 to require 
an entity to exercise 
judgment in assessing 
whether a government 
and entities known to 
be under the control 
of that government are 
considered a single 
customer for purposes of 
certain operating segment 
disclosures. The Standard 
also makes numerous 
editorial amendments to 
other AASs.

Beginning 1 
January 2011

The amendments 
only apply to those 
entities to whom 
AASB 8 applies, 
which are for-profit 
entities except for 
for-profit government 
departments.

AASB 2009–13 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from interpretation 
19 (AASB 1) 

Consequential 
amendment to AASB 1 
arising from publication of 
Interpretation 19.

Beginning 1 
July 2010

SAC does not 
extinguish financial 
liabilities with 
equity instruments, 
therefore 
requirements of 
Interpretation 
19 and related 
amendments have 
no impact.

AASB 2009–14 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Interpretation – 
Prepayments of a 
minimum funding 
requirement (AASB 
Interpretation 14) 

Amendment to 
Interpretation 14 arising 
from the issuance 
of prepayments of 
a minimum funding 
requirement.

Beginning 1 
January 2011

Expected to have no 
significant impact.



S
E

N
TE

N
C

IN
G

 A
D

V
IS

O
R

Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T 

2
0

0
9

–2
0

1
0

66

AASB 2010–1 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Limited 
Exemption from 
Comparative AASB 
7 Disclosures for 
First-time Adopters 
(AASB 1 and AASB 7) 

The amendment provides 
limited exemptions from 
the requirements of 
adhering to AASB 1 and 
AASB 7 that arise from 
AASB 2009–2.

Beginning 1 
July 2010

These exemptions 
are unlikely to have 
an impact on SAC 
because it is not a 
first time adoption.

Erratum General 
Terminology changes

Editorial amendments 
to a range of Australian 
Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations.

Beginning 1 
January 2010

Terminology and 
editorial changes. 
Impact minor.

Interpretation 
19 Extinguishing 
Financial Liabilities 
with Equity 
Instruments

Guidance to assist 
entity in accounting for 
transactions that involves 
extinguishing a liability fully 
or partially by issuing equity 
instruments to the creditor.

Beginning 1 
July 2010

The impact of this 
interpretation only 
affects entities 
that issue equity 
instruments.

AASB 1053 
Application of 
Different Tiers 
of Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

This Standard establishes 
a differential financial 
reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for 
preparing general purpose 
financial statements.

Beginning 1 
July 2013

The impact of this 
Standard may affect 
disclosures in the 
financial reports 
of certain types 
of entities (public 
sector entities 
(except whole of 
government and 
general government 
sector)) where 
reduced disclosure 
requirements may 
apply. The Standard 
does not affect the 
operating result or 
financial position.

AASB 2010–2 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from Reduced 
Disclosure 
Requirements

This Standard makes 
amendments to many 
Australian Accounting 
Standards, including 
Interpretations, to 
introduce reduced 
disclosure requirements 
to the pronouncements 
for application by certain 
types of entities.

Beginning 1 
January 2013

Does not 
affect financial 
measurement or 
recognition, so is 
not expected to 
have any impact 
on financial result 
or position. May 
reduce some 
note disclosures 
in financial 
statements.
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Note 2. Income from Transactions
2010 

$
2009 

$

Grants and other income transfers
Department of Justice

 
1,904,200

 
1,979,200

Total grants and other income transfers 1,904,200 1,979,200

Total income 1,904,200 1,979,200

Note 3. Expenses from Transactions
2010 

$
2009 

$

(a) Employee Expenses
Post employment benefits: 
– Defined contribution superannuation expenses 
Salary, wages and long service leave 
Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax 
and workcover levy) 
Staff training

 
 

102,433 
1,175,237 

 
69,312 
45,277

 
 

88,714 
1,063,080 

 
59,882 
74,432

Total employee expenses 1,392,259 1,286,108

(b) Other Operating Expenses
Supplies and services 
– Purchase of supplies and consumables 
– Purchase of services 
– Maintenance 
– Other (rent and associated costs)

 
 

85,110 
239,810 
15,009 

105,523

 
 

124,148 
339,721 

32,743 
105,523

Total supplies and services 445,452 602,135

Operating lease rental expenses 
– Minimum lease payments

 
–

 
2,918

Total operating lease rental expenses – 2,918

Total other operating expenses 445,452 605,053
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Note 4. Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result
2010 

$
2009 

$

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service 
liability

 
 

822

 
 

(8,520)

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 822 (8,520)

Note 5. Receivables
2010 

$
2009 

$

Current receivables

Statutory
Amount owing from the Department of Justice

 
497,082

 
463,326

Total current receivables 497,082 463,326

Non-current receivables

Statutory
Amount owing from the Department of Justice

 
34,020

 
32,296

Total non-current receivables 34,020 32,296

Total receivables 531,102 495,622

(i) The amounts recognised from the Department of Justice/Victorian Government 
represent funding for all commitments incurred through the appropriations and are 
drawn from the consolidated fund as the commitments fall due. (Appropriations are 
amounts owed by the Department of Justice/Victorian Government as legislated in the 
Appropriations Act. Due to the existence of legislative instrument, the appropriation 
receivable to an entity is statutory in nature, and hence not within the scope of the 
financial instruments standards.)
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Note 6. Plant and Equipment

Classification by ‘Public Safety and Environment’ Purpose Group (I)

Table 6.1 Gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

Net carrying 
amount

2010 
$

2009 
$

2010 
$

2009 
$

2010 
$

2009 
$

– Leasehold fitout 
at fair value

446,673 446,673 (446,673) (446,673) – –

446,673 446,673 (446,673) (446,673) – –

(I) Plant and equipment is classified primarily by the ‘purpose’ for which the assets are 
used, according to one of the six ‘Purpose Groups’ based upon Government Purpose 
Classification (GPC). All assets within a purpose group are further sub categorised 
according to the asset’s nature (i.e. buildings, plant and equipment, etc) with each sub 
category being classified as a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes.

Classification by ‘Public Safety and Environment’ Purpose Group

Movements in Carrying Amount

There were no movements in carrying value during the year. (2009 Nil)

Accumulated Depreciation Recognised as an Expense during the Year

There was nil depreciation recognised as an expense in the year. (2009 Nil)

Note 7. Payables
2010 

$
2009 

$

Current payables

Contractual
Supplies and services 
Employee benefits

 
38,743 
38,764

 
71,785 
43,920

Total contractual payables 77,507 115,705

Statutory
Taxes payable

– 317

Total statutory payables – 317

Total payables 77,507 116,022
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(a) Maturity Analysis of Payables

Refer to table 13.2 in Note 13.

(b) Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Payables

Refer to note 13d.

Note 8. Provisions
2010 

$
2009 

$

Current provisions

Employee benefits (i) (note 8(a)) – annual leave

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 
months (ii)

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 
months (iii)

 
22,703

 
2,096

 
41,306

 
3,317

Employee benefits (i) (note 8(a)) – long service leave

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 
months (ii)

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 
months (iii)

 
61,063

 
80,875

 
52,800

 
65,762

166,737 163,185

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs (note 8(a))

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 
months (ii)

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 
months (iii)

 
22,207

 
9,966

 
19,904

 
10,861

32,173 30,765

Total current provisions 198,910 193,950

Non-current provisions

Employee benefits (i) (note 8(a))

Employee benefit on-costs (note 8(a))

29,580

4,440

28,071

4,225

Total non-current provisions 34,020 32,296

Total provisions 232,930 226,246
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(a) Employee Benefits (i) and Related On-costs

Current employee benefits

Annual leave entitlements

Long service leave entitlements

Non-current employee benefits

Long service leave entitlements

24,799

141,938

29,580

44,623

118,562

28,071

Total employee benefits

Current on-costs

Non-current on-costs

196,317

32,173

4,440

191,256

30,765

4,225

Total on-costs 36,613 34,990

Total employee benefits and related on-costs 232,930 226,246

Notes:
(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long 
service leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

(b) Movement in Provisions

On-costs 
2010 

$

Total 
2010 

$

Opening balance

Additional provisions recognised

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of 
future economic benefits

34,990

22,691

 
(21,068)

34,990

22,691

 
(21,068)

Closing balance 36,613 36,613

Current

Non-current

32,173

4,440

32,173

4,440

36,613 36,613
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Note 9. Superannuation
Employees of SAC are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and SAC contributes 
solely to defined contribution plans.

Superannuation contributions paid and payable for the reporting period are included as 
part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of SAC.

The name and details of the major superannuation funds and contributions made by 
SAC are as follows:

Paid contribution 
for the year

Contribution outstanding 
at year end

 
Fund

2010 
$

2009 
$

2010 
$

2009 
$

Defined contribution plans
VicSuper
Other

94,478
7,955

75,684
13,029

–
–

–
–

Total 102,433 88,713 – –

Notes:
(a) The bases for contributions are determined by the various schemes.
(b) The above amounts were measured as at 30 June of each year, or in the case of 
employer contributions relate to the years ended 30 June.

(a) Superannuation Expense Recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement

2010 
$

2009 
$

Defined contribution plans
Employer contributions to defined contributions plans 102,433 88,713

Total expense recognised in respect of defined 
contribution plans

 
102,433

 
88,713

Total superannuation expense recognised in 
comprehensive operating statement

 
102,433

 
88,713

Note 10. Leases

Disclosure for Lessees – Operating Leases

There were no commitments for operating leases as at 30 June 2010 ($Nil – 2009).

Note 11. Commitments for Expenditure

Capital Expenditure Commitments

There were no commitments for capital expenditure as at 30 June 2010 ($Nil – 2009).
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Note 12. Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
At balance date there were no contingent assets or liabilities not provided for in the 
balance sheet as at 30 June 2010 ($Nil – 2009).

Note 13. Financial Instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

SAC’s principal financial instruments comprise of:
– cash assets;
– receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and
– payables (excluding statutory payables).

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the 
criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income 
and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudently manage SAC’s 
financial risks within the government policy parameters.

The carrying amount of SAC’s financial assets and financial liabilities by category 
are in the following table:

Table 13.1: Categorisation of financial instruments

2010 
$

2009 
$

Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits 500 500

Total contractual financial assets 500 500

Contractual financial liabilities
Payables
Supplies and services
Other payables

38,743
38,764

71,785
43,920

Total contractual financial liabilities 77,507 115,705

(i) The total amount of financial assets disclosed here excludes statutory receivables 
(i.e. Amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable).
(ii) The amount of financial liabilities disclosed here exclude statutory payables (i.e.: 
Taxes payable).
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(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of SAC, which comprise 
cash and deposits and non-statutory receivables. SAC’s exposure to credit risk 
arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to SAC. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is 
monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with SAC’s contractual financial assets is minimal because 
the only debtor is the Department of Justice.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that SAC would be unable to meet its financial obligations 
as and when they fall due. SAC operates under the Government fair payments policy 
of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, making 
payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

SAC’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial 
liabilities as disclosed in the face the balance sheet.

SAC’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data 
and current assessment of risk.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for SAC’s contractual 
financial liabilities:

Table 13.2: Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
Maturity dates (ii)

 
 
2010

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Less 
than 

1 month

1–3 
months

3 
months 
–1 year

1–5 
years

Financial liabilities
Payables (i)
Supplies and services
Other payables

38,743
38,764

38,743
38,764

38,743
38,764

–
–

–
–

–
–

Total 77,507 77,507 77,507 – – –

2009
Financial liabilities
Payables (i)
Supplies and services
Other payables

71,785
43,920

71,785
43,920

71,785
43,920

–
–

–
–

–
–

Total 115,705 115,705 115,705 – – –

Notes:
(i) The amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g. taxes payable).
(ii) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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(d) Market Risk

SAC’s exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk. The exposure 
to interest rate risk is insignificant and arises through SAC’s borrowings.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk might arise as a result of its floating rate borrowings. Currently 
SAC does not have borrowings so its exposure to risk is insignificant.

(e) Fair Values

SAC considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded 
in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values because of 
the short term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will 
be paid in full.

Note 14. Cash Flow Information
2010 

$
2009 

$

(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Deposits

Total cash and deposits disclosed in the balance sheet 500 500

Balance as per cash flow statement 500 500

(b) Reconciliation of Net Result for the Period to Net Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities

Net result for the period 67,311 79,519

Movements in assets and liabilities 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 
Increase/(decrease) in payables 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

 
(35,480) 
(38,515) 

6,684

 
(165,771) 

10,382 
75,870

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities – –
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Note 15. Responsible Persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under 
the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding 
responsible persons for the reporting period.

Names

Minsters and the Department

The persons who held the positions of ministers and secretary of the Department are as 
follows:

Attorney-General The Hon. Rob Hulls, MP 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Acting Attorney-General The Hon. Tony Robinson, MP 1 July 2009 to 11 July 2009

The Hon. Bob Cameron, MP 11 January 2010 to 15 January 
2010

The Hon. John Lenders, MLC 16 January 2010 to 31 January 
2010

Secretary to the 
Department of Justice

Ms. Penny Armytage 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Acting Secretary to the 
Department of Justice

Ms. Louise Glanville 25 October 2009 to 4 
November 2009

Dr. Claire Noone 23 December 2009 to 15 
January 2010

Ms. Louise Glanville 28 June 2010 to 30 June 2010

Sentencing Advisory Council

The persons who were Responsible Persons of SAC for the reporting period are as follows:

Accountable Officer
Chief Executive Officer Mr. Stephen Farrow 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Statutory Office Holders
Chairperson Professor Arie Freiberg AM 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Council members Ms. Carmel Arthur 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Mr. David Grace QC 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Mr. Rudolph Kirby 1 July 2009 to 9 November 2009
Ms. Andrea Lott 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Ms. Thérèse McCarthy 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Professor Jenny Morgan 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Mr. Simon Overland APM 1 July 2009 to 4 February 2010
Ms. Barbara Rozenes 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Mr. Gavin Silbert SC 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Mr. David Ware 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Ms. Lisa Ward 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Remuneration

Ministers and the Department

Amounts relating to Minsters are reported in the financial statements of the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet. Remuneration received or receivable by the Secretary in 
connection with the management of the Department during the period is reported by the 
Department of Justice.
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Sentencing Advisory Council

Remuneration received or receivable by the Chairperson and Council Members in 
connection with their duties on the Council was in the range:

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

2010 
No.

2009 
No.

2010 
No.

2009 
No.

$0–$9,999 9 9 9 9

Total numbers 9 9 9 9

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer (Chief Executive Officer) 
in connection with the management of SAC during the reporting period was in the range:

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

2010 
No.

2009 
No.

2010 
No.

2009 
No.

$130,000–$139,999 
$140,000–$149,999 
$150,000–$159,999

– 
– 
1

1 
– 
–

– 
1 
–

1 
– 
–

Total numbers 1 1 1 1

There are no executive officers other than the above.

Council members are appointed by Governor-in-Council order under sections 108F(1)(f) 
and 108F(2) of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) (the Act). Details of the appointment, 
including payment provisions, are contained in a schedule attached to the order. Council 
members, depending on their substantive employment, are eligible for remuneration 
according to section 108H(1)(b) of the Act and the schedule attached to the order 
appointing them. Remuneration of Council members is made in line with their Governor-
in-Council appointment and Department of Premier and Cabinet guideline, Guidelines 
for the Appointment and Remuneration of Part-Time Non-Executive Directors of State 
Government Boards and Members of Statutory Bodies and Advisory Committees. During 
the 2009–10 financial year, 9 Council members were eligible for remuneration for their 
work on the Council.

Related Party Transactions

A number of Council members are employed by the Department of Justice. During the 
financial year, SAC and the Department conducted business transactions at arms length 
and at normal commercial terms.
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Note 16. Remuneration of Auditors
2010 

$
2009 

$

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office
Audit of the financial report

 
11,990

 
10,000

11,990 10,000

Note 17. Subsequent Events
There were no significant events occurring after reporting date to be reported as at 30 
June 2010 ($Nil – 2009).

Note 18. Glossary of Terms

Comprehensive result

Total comprehensive result is the change in equity for the period other than changes 
arising from transactions with owners. It is the aggregate of net result and other non-
owner changes in equity.

Commitments

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments 
arising from non cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages 
and salaries, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and defined contribution 
superannuation plans.

Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash;

(b) an equity instrument of another entity;

(c) a contractual or statutory right:

– to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

– to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity; or

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

– a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable 
number of the entity’s own equity instrument

– a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed 
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own 
equity instruments.

Financial statements

Depending on the context of the sentence where the term ‘financial statements’ is 
used, it may include only the main financial statements (i.e. comprehensive operating 
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statement, balance sheet, cash flow statements, and statement of changes in equity); or 
it may also be used to replace the old term ‘ financial report’ under the revised AASB 101 
(Sept 2007), which means it may include the main financial statements and the notes.

Interest expense

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Interest expenses include 
interest on bank overdrafts and short term and long term borrowings, amortisation 
of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, interest component of finance lease 
repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non employee provisions due to 
the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time.

Net result

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is 
the result of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the 
period, excluding those that are classified as ‘ other non-owner changes in equity’.

Net result from transactions/net operating balance

Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is 
revenue from transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure 
of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from 
changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component 
of the change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to 
government policies.

Other economic flows

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do 
not result from transactions. It includes gains and losses from disposals, revaluations 
and impairments of non-current physical assets; fair value changes of financial 
instruments and agricultural assets; and depletion of natural assets (non produced) 
from their use or removal. In simple terms, other economic flows are changes arising 
from market re-measurements.

Payables

Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and 
interest payable.

Receivables

Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and 
long term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, 
taxes and interest receivable.

Supplies and services

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and day to day running 
costs, including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Council.

Transactions

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy 
decisions usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also 
include flows within an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously 
acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service 
provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between 
the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given 
free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In 
simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.
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